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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I am Council

          3  Member Joel Rivera, Chair of the Council's Committee

          4  on Health.  The topic of today's hearing is the

          5  Mayor's Fiscal 2008 Preliminary Budget for the Chief

          6  Medical Examiner, the Department of Health and

          7  Mental Hygiene and the Health and Hospitals

          8  Corporation.

          9                 This morning we will hear from the

         10  Office of the Chief Medical Examiner on the Mayor's

         11  Fiscal 2008 Preliminary Budget for the Department of

         12  Health and Mental Hygiene.  The Chief Medical

         13  Examiner's Fiscal 2008 Expense Budget is

         14  approximately $56 million dollars.

         15                 We will discuss a number of budgetary

         16  issues.  One in particular is new funding provided

         17  to OCME for the World Trade Center sites potential

         18  human remains operations.  This morning we will be

         19  hearing from Dr. Charles Hirsch, the Chief Medical

         20  Examiner before hearing from our witnesses.

         21                 I would like to note that we have

         22  also been joined by some of my colleagues here in

         23  the Council.  We have Council Member Inez Dickens

         24  and maybe throughout the hearing we'll have more

         25  members come in and out as we have multiple hearings
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          2  taking place simultaneously.

          3                 At this point in time, you may begin.

          4                 DR. HIRSH: Thank you.  I am Charles

          5  Hirsch, the Chief Medical Examiner.  Seated on my

          6  near right is Barbara

          7  Butcher, the acting Chief of Staff.  On my far right

          8  is Jan English, Deputy Commissioner for

          9  Administration and on my left is Jody Lipton, our

         10  General Counsel.

         11                 Chairman Rivera, Councilwoman

         12  Dickens, my prepared remarks will update you on four

         13  subjects, the recovery and identification of World

         14  Trade Center human remains, our new DNA laboratory,

         15  plans for a new Bronx facility, and the status of

         16  our budget.

         17                 As the reconstruction of Lower

         18  Manhattan and the World Trade Center began last year

         19  excavation revealed areas containing fragments of

         20  bone.  This prompted the Mayor to convene a multi-

         21  agency task force charged with devising a strategy

         22  to recover all human remains in the area.  The

         23  result was a plan to excavate the haul road and the

         24  area under and around the former Greek Orthodox

         25  Church.  Additionally, the ballasting rooftops
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          2  around the site was to be sifted as would the debris

          3  and several damaged buildings including the former

          4  Deutsche Bank.  Finally, 649 manholes in the area

          5  were to be excavated.  The Office of Chief Medical

          6  Examiner was identified as the lead agency for this

          7  effort and we've had the full support of many City

          8  agencies.

          9                 In an unprecedented task of forensic

         10  excavation and recovery, we've sifted thousands

         11  square feet of roof ballast on five buildings.  I

         12  must emphasize that this work was done with

         13  meticulous care by all personnel involved including

         14  construction workers, anthropologists, and

         15  archaeologists.  For example, 766 fragments of bone

         16  were recovered from the roof of the Deutsche Bank

         17  building by removing and sifting the ballast.

         18                 We now have designed and built the

         19  largest and most efficient screening and recovery

         20  system ever used in forensic anthropology.  To date,

         21  we've excavated 6,150 cubic yards of material from

         22  the World Trade Center site and we anticipate an

         23  additional 7,000 cubic yards.  All excavation and

         24  sifting is projected to be done within one year.

         25  The construction and operation of the sifting
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          2  facility in the former OEM warehouse.

          3                 Contracting with 45 additional

          4  anthropologists and archaeologists and other

          5  personnel and equipment will result in an $11

          6  million dollar adjustment to our budget.

          7                 We're proud of this work and we

          8  remain committed to a promise we've repeated many

          9  times.  We'll do whatever it takes, for as long as

         10  it takes, to identify as many World Trade Center

         11  victims as science and effort will allow.

         12                 Last month, our Forensic Biology

         13  Department moved to the new DNA facility on East

         14  26th Street in Manhattan.  The new space will permit

         15  the Department to grow and increase staffing levels

         16  enabling us to offer DNA testing for all types of

         17  crime with suitable evidence such as robberies,

         18  burglaries, attempted murders and other assaults,

         19  arson and drug or gun possession.

         20                 Simultaneously, we hired 35 new

         21  criminalists who now are undergoing mandated

         22  forensic training.  The remaining hiring for FY '07

         23  will add support staff for the quality assurance and

         24  administrative teams as well as 20 more

         25  criminalists.  For FY '08, we are seeking 112
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          2  additional positions including criminalists,

          3  managers, and support staff.

          4                 In the past, our DNA laboratory

          5  analyzed evidence from homicides and sex crimes.

          6  Evidence from other types of crimes was tested only

          7  under special circumstances.  The overall number of

          8  cases was approximately 3,000 per year.  This April,

          9  the laboratory will start to accept all property

         10  crime cases with biological evidence adding an

         11  estimated 5,300 cases to the current workload.

         12                 Furthermore, with our expansion in FY

         13   '07 and '08, we'll have the capacity to process

         14  4,000 assault cases a year.  We anticipate reaching

         15  full capacity for all types of requests currently an

         16  estimated annual total of $18,800 cases in 2009.

         17  Staffing needs for FY '09 will be reviewed when more

         18  information about testing demand and laboratory

         19  productivity in the new facility are available.

         20                 Our Capital Budget provides funds for

         21  a much needed freestanding new medical examiner

         22  facility in the Bronx.  HHC has identified a site

         23  for that office and the campus of Jacobi Hospital.

         24  The site currently is occupied by two buildings

         25  which are to be demolished.  When the functions in
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          2  those buildings are relocated, we'll proceed with

          3  demolition and construction.

          4                 Our current modified FY '07 budget is

          5  $51.6 million dollars comprised of $34.7 million for

          6  PS and $16.8 million in OTPS which includes various

          7  Federal and State grants.  The proposed FY '08

          8  operating Budget is projected at $55.6 million,

          9  $41.6 million for PS and $9.5 million for OTPS.  The

         10  increase of $11 million PS reflects the planned

         11  expansion of the DNA laboratories.  While OTPS

         12  appears to have been reduced, this amount does not

         13  reflect grants that will be added to the budget

         14  after July.

         15                 I remain confident that our budgetary

         16  allocation will continue to support and maintain our

         17  customary standard of excellence.  Mr. Chairman,

         18  that concludes my prepared remarks.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         20  much.  You did a fine job of answering our questions

         21  before we even got a chance to ask them.

         22                 Just want to ask that if possible if

         23  you can provide us the information when it's

         24  available on the staffing needs for '09.  Once the

         25  information becomes available, just provide it to
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          2  our Council here so that we can be kept up- to-

          3  date.

          4                 We've been joined by Councilwoman

          5  Maria Baez and Council Member Kendall Stewart.  If

          6  any of my colleagues have any questions  --  See

          7  again you answered the questions before we got a

          8  chance to ask them.  Thank you.

          9                 DR. HIRSCH: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         10  members of the Council.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         12  much for joining us here today.

         13                 As we wait for the Commissioner of

         14  the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene we're

         15  going to take a brief recess and resume once he gets

         16  in the building.  Thank you.

         17                 We're now going to resume the budget

         18  hearing for the Health Committee.  This begins the

         19  Public Health portion of our hearing.  The

         20  Department's Fiscal 2008 Preliminary Budget is $1.6

         21  billion dollars.  In developing this Preliminary

         22  Budget the Department has included reductions in

         23  such critical areas as health clinics, infant and

         24  maternal health disease prevention, minority health,

         25  school health, and new funding for school- based
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          2  health and reproductive health centers, a food

          3  policy program and correctional health and mental

          4  health programming.

          5                 The primary purpose in today's

          6  hearing is to ask questions that will answer the

          7  overall question of how to provide the best possible

          8  public health structure to residents of the City of

          9  New York.  Dr. Thomas Frieden, the Commissioner of

         10  the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene will

         11  provide testimony shortly before hearing from our

         12  witnesses.

         13                 I would like to note that we have

         14  also been joined by Council Member Helen Sears,

         15  Council Member Maria del Carmen Arroyo, and still

         16  with us in Council Member Inez Dickens and Council

         17  Member Kendall Stewart.

         18                 At this point in time, Commissioner,

         19  you may begin.

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Thank you very

         21  much and good morning, Chairperson Rivera and

         22  members of the City Council and the Committee on

         23  Health.  My name is Tom Frieden and I'm Health

         24  Commissioner for New York City.

         25                 Let me first begin by highlighting
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          2  some of our recent progress relating to the Take

          3  Care New York health policy agenda.  Advancing use

          4  of health information technology is central to our

          5  efforts to improve care, particularly prevention,

          6  for every New Yorker.  After a complete and thorough

          7  RFP process that included bids from the leaders in

          8  health information technology, we selected a vendor

          9  to provide electronic health records to more than

         10  1,000 primary care physicians who serve a million

         11  patients in low income at- risk communities.

         12                 In Fiscal '07, the Department

         13  continued pursuing the goal of a smoke- free New

         14  York City, launching the largest anti smoking media

         15  campaign in the Department's history.  Hard- hitting

         16  ads depicted the health consequences of smoking and

         17  included testimonials from sick or dying smokers.

         18  Call volumes to 311 for quit smoking assistance

         19  increased four- fold during this time.  In

         20  partnership with the Health and Hospitals

         21  Corporation, we also distributed more than 60,000

         22  courses of nicotine patches in 2006.

         23                 Heart disease prevention remains the

         24  leading  -- I'm sorry.  Heart disease remains the

         25  leading preventable cause of death in New York City.
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          2    In December, the New York City Board of Health

          3  approved new health code regulations phasing out

          4  artificial trans fat in all New York City food

          5  service establishments and requiring calorie

          6  labeling in certain restaurants.  In addition, with

          7  support from the City Council, we expanded the

          8  Sports, Play and Active Recreation for Kids, or

          9  SPARK program, to increase physical activity among

         10  children in daycare an pre- K settings. Already,

         11  more than 60 percent of pre- K teaching staff City-

         12  wide have been trained in SPARK.  We also

         13  implemented the Healthy Bodega Initiative to

         14  increase the availability of one percent milk and

         15  fresh produce.

         16                 We continue to pursue a comprehensive

         17  approach to improve the prevention, treatment, case

         18  management, and control of HIV/AIDS.  Last year, we

         19  expanded voluntary HIV rapid testing in STD and TB

         20  clinics, City jails, homeless shelters, community-

         21  based organizations and medical settings conducting

         22  nearly 100,000 rapid HIV tests.  Rapid testing has

         23  increased the proportion of people who learn their

         24  results and are referred for care.  In addition, we

         25  successfully launched the New York City condom last
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          2  month and since the Council generally requires or

          3  requests 30 copies of any part of the testimony or

          4  any part of our  --  I've brought in condoms for the

          5  City Council members and for your offices so we'll

          6  hand those around later and you have a nice carry

          7  bag for them as well.

          8                 Despite these advances, the sad fact

          9  is that we are failing to stop the HIV epidemic.  We

         10  simply cannot continue to be the AIDS capital of the

         11  United States.  The enemy here is a virus. It's one

         12  that's very difficult to combat.  Measures to reduce

         13  the spread of HIV are weak.  Behavior change is

         14  difficult to achieve. We're limited in our ability

         15  to expand testing by outdated New York State

         16  requirements, by stigma and by the difficulty of

         17  testing the highest risk people promptly and our

         18  treatment system lacks accountability.  The

         19  difficultly of this effort means we need to

         20  vigorously re- evaluate what works and what doesn't,

         21  redouble our efforts and stay focused on the goal on

         22  reducing the spread of HIV and the number of people

         23  who die from AIDS.

         24                 Colon cancer is the second leading

         25  cause of cancer death in New York City killing more
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          2  than 1,400 people each year. In collaboration with

          3  the City- wide Colon Cancer Control Coalition, the

          4  C5, the Department published and distributed a guide

          5  to best practices, tools and resources for hospitals

          6  to increase colonoscopy.  A Patient Navigator

          7  Program in place at three HHC hospitals increased

          8  colonoscopy screening by 300 percent in these

          9  facilities compared with an 11 increase State- wide.

         10    We greatly appreciate the Council's critical and

         11  continued support for colon cancer screening and

         12  prevention which as far as I know is unique in the

         13  country.

         14                 The Newborn Home Visiting Program

         15  helps New Yorkers have a safe and healthy home.  The

         16  program informs client families about breastfeeding,

         17  SIDS risk reduction and infant safety, conducts home

         18  environmental assessments for lead paint hazards,

         19  smoke and carbon monoxide detectors and window

         20  guards, and connects clients to medical care, health

         21  insurance and other services.  Last year, we

         22  provided a home visit to almost 3,400 families with

         23  new babies who reside in East and Central Harlem,

         24  and North and Central Brooklyn.  We plan to expand

         25  this program in the coming year.
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          2                 While New York City's infant

          3  mortality rate remains too high and with

          4  unacceptable disparities, there were fewer infant

          5  deaths last year than any year in New York City

          6  history, thanks in part to funding provided by the

          7  New York City Council through the Infant Mortality

          8  Reduction Initiative.  We're working hard to support

          9  parents to help give their children a good start in

         10  life. The Nurse Family Partnership today is helping

         11  more than 500 high risk families in low- income

         12  neighborhoods to improve health and social outcomes

         13  for their children and the entire family.

         14                 I'll now take a moment to update you

         15  on our efforts to improve correctional and oral

         16  health services.  In December, the Department issued

         17  a concept paper for community- based providers to

         18  manage correctional mental and physical health care

         19  and discharge planning on a facility- by- facility

         20  basis.  This is an exciting opportunity to move

         21  toward a service delivery model that provides

         22  continuity of health and mental health services for

         23  patients both during and after incarceration.  If

         24  responsive bids are received, this model would be

         25  piloted on a small scale beginning in 2008.
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          2                 We also continue to improve our HIV-

          3  related discharge planning services at Rikers

          4  Island.  Under this plan, the Health Department

          5  assumed responsibility for coordinating patient care

          6  and discharge planning.  The restructuring will

          7  streamline the administration of HIV- related

          8  discharge planning and increase the number of

          9  patients receiving high- quality care upon release.

         10                 Turning to our oral health program,

         11  last I shared with you the Department's intent to

         12  restructure this program.  Our goal is to provide

         13  primary and intermediate school students with

         14  primary and preventive care, particularly sealant

         15  application.  We are implementing a model of care

         16  which includes intensive outreach in a school,

         17  obtaining parental consents, screening children,

         18  applying sealants, and referral to our health

         19  centers or other providers for more intensive care.

         20                 Over the past several months, the

         21  Department has focused on improving outreach

         22  strategies, strengthening partnerships and

         23  streamlining administrative procedures to ensure a

         24  smooth transition to this new program model.

         25                 In the year ahead, there are several
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          2  important initiatives and I'll highlight those now.

          3  Last year, Mayor Bloomberg created the Center on

          4  Economic Opportunity to develop new strategies to

          5  address poverty in New York City.

          6                 To promote healthier food habits and

          7  greater availability of healthy food options, our

          8  budget includes $285,000 in Fiscal '08 to fund a

          9  food program in the South Bronx, East and Central

         10  Harlem and Central Brooklyn.  With this new funding,

         11  we plan to expand our campaigns to increase

         12  availability of one percent milk and fresh produce

         13  to 1,000 bodegas in these low- income neighborhoods.

         14                 Teen pregnancies often trap two

         15  generations in poverty.  The preliminary budget

         16  includes $1.3 million for the operation of health

         17  and reproductive health centers in five high

         18  schools.  School- based or school- linked health

         19  programs can reduce teen pregnancy.

         20                 Children born into poverty are more

         21  likely to be premature or underweight.  These

         22  conditions often lead to developmental and physical

         23  disabilities that prevent children from getting a

         24  healthy start.  The Fiscal '09 budget assumes that

         25  New York State will be successful in securing a
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          2  Medicare waiver that would provide full Federal

          3  funding for the Nurse Family Partnership Program.

          4  Such a change would allow us to greatly expand the

          5  program to more women in high poverty areas.

          6  However, if we don't succeed in getting both State

          7  and Federal approvals for our Medicaid waiver

          8  application, OMB reports that funds will be made

          9  available to fund the large budget shortfall which

         10  would be present in Fiscal '09.

         11                 With regard to correctional health,

         12  the FY '08 budget included additional funds to keep

         13  pace with the increasing costs of medical supplies,

         14  drugs and to meet the standards needed to respond to

         15  the health needs of inmates.

         16                 Our Fiscal '08 budget includes an

         17  additional $1.2 million in new funding for

         18  antimicrobial resistance surveillance reporting and

         19  education.  In addition, the budget includes

         20  $913,000 on the dangers of sexually transmitted

         21  diseases and expand testing and treatment for

         22  Chlamydia and Gonorrhea.

         23                 I'd like to thank the Council for

         24  your collaboration and partnership and I look

         25  forward to continuing to work together in the coming
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          2  year.  I'd be happy to answer your questions.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          4  much, Commissioner.

          5                 We've been joined by Council Member

          6  Miguel Martinez.

          7                 First, I just want to mention the

          8  fact that in your testimony that a bunch of good

          9  initiatives that the Council and the Administration

         10  together on funding and what we see in the

         11  preliminary budget is cuts to the Council

         12  initiatives for the Fiscal 2008 preliminary budget.

         13  In particular, it includes $32 million dollars in

         14  reductions to programs that were funded in the

         15  Fiscal 2007 adopted budget in addition to reductions

         16  for tuberculosis, child health clinics and other

         17  cuts which include $4.8 million for the Infant

         18  Mortality Reduction Initiative and the $2.9 million

         19  for Emergency Preparedness and others.

         20                 Given the improved outlook for the

         21  City's finances for Fiscal 2008, what consideration

         22  was given to adding funding for these programs to

         23  the baseline budget?

         24                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: This is issue

         25  that gets raised every year.  We think that all of
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          2  the programs that you mentioned are extremely

          3  important and we hope that as the Council and OMB

          4  work to finalize the budget they will all be

          5  reflected in the final budget.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And one in

          7  particular, the SPARK program, we see that it was

          8  cut by $500,000 dollars and this was actually a

          9  brainchild of the Department of Health and Mental

         10  Hygiene and all your good work and efforts to reduce

         11  obesity within the younger population.  Is there a

         12  reason why an initiative that comes out of the

         13  Administration, which was supported by the Council,

         14  would get cut?

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Again, we would

         16  hope that these programs would be reflected in the

         17  final budget.  This is part of the negotiation that

         18  goes on each year and we do look forward to

         19  continuing those programs and we would hope in many

         20  of the cases to enable them to be baseline which

         21  would enable us to plan for the programs in a more

         22  effective way and implement more effectively.

         23  Particularly, for example, in HIV where doing this

         24  from year- to- year is not nearly as effective as if

         25  the programs were baseline.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Since you agree

          3  the baseline would be good  --  I mean the baseline

          4  happens on your side with the Administration, not on

          5  our side.  Is there an effort from the agency or the

          6  Department to try to get these initiatives baseline

          7  so that they wouldn't have to go through this

          8  rigorous process?

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We continue to

         10  discuss that with OMB.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Now, under new

         12  needs, the facilities operations and safety, the

         13  Department plans to commit $1 million Fiscal 2008,

         14  $950,000 in '09, $986 in 2010 and the odd years for

         15  additional maintenance staff and peace officers at

         16  various DOHMH facilities.  The Department plans to

         17  hire 20 additional personnel which consists of 15

         18  peace offices, two maintenance staff and three

         19  analysts.  In what Department facilities will DOHMH

         20  place the additional peace officer and maintenance

         21  staff?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER OWINGS- LEAKS:

         23  Good morning. Scottie Owings- Leaks, Deputy

         24  Commissioner for Administrative Services.  The

         25  police officers will be placed in our sites where we
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          2  have clinical services.  We have found that we have

          3  that need.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: So just in any

          5  site that you find that you have the need?  Do you

          6  have the particulars on which sites?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER OWINGS- LEAKS:

          8  Well we have clinical services particularly in East

          9  Harlem, Tremont, Bushwick. We have services at Fort

         10  Greene.  We will be reopening our Crown Heights site

         11  and so it's those sites where we will need the

         12  services.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay.  That

         14  sounds good.  Thank you.

         15                 Now just moving on, HIV and AIDS is a

         16  major issue, as stated in you testimony, effecting

         17  the City of New York and our nation.  On the federal

         18  side with the Ryan White re- authorization, you know

         19  President Bush signed into law the Ryan White Care

         20  Act, the authorization bill, in December of '06.

         21  The legislation calls for strengthening hold

         22  harmless provisions and maintaining funding levels

         23  so that states would not receive less than 95

         24  percent of their '06 funding levels.  Can you update

         25  us on Committee on Ryan White funding for New York
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          2  State and in particular it's effect on New York

          3  City's share of the funding?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yeah, this is a

          5  complicated area that is really difficult to manage

          6  this year.  There are three different pools of HIV

          7  dollars within Ryan White or Ryan White related

          8  funds.  There is the core funding.  There is the

          9  supplemental funding and then there is the minority

         10  AIDS initiative.  We just last week received I think

         11  a preliminary if not a final report of our core

         12  funding which declined, if I recall correctly, by $3

         13  million dollars from the previous year.

         14                 However, we are much more concerned

         15  about the supplemental pool which we'll hear about,

         16  I'm told, by the end April.  Now that's a little

         17  difficult because the contracts expire in March.  So

         18  we have a real gap here and we're trying to manage

         19  that by continuing whatever programs we can and by

         20  delaying issuing new awards to successful bidders

         21  because we don't know  --  certain successful

         22  bidders because we don't know what funds we're going

         23  to have in the current fiscal year.

         24                 Then it won't be until August until

         25  we hear about the minority AIDS initiative and there
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          2  are a lot of discussions and debate in D.C..  I've

          3  gone done on several occasions to lobby on New York

          4  City's behalf.  We've worked closely  with all of

          5  our community partners here to try to defend New

          6  York City's interests here.  The fact is that we get

          7  by far the largest Ryan White award and we're seen

          8  as a target by various parties and so we'll work

          9  hard to protect that, but we are looking at the

         10  realistic possibility that we could have a very

         11  large budget shortfall or reduction in funding in

         12  Ryan White and we won't know whether or not we do

         13  for another six weeks or so.  Then even at that

         14  point we won't know what the minority AIDS

         15  initiative will hold.  So these are very difficult

         16  times to try to manage this project given the lack

         17  of clarity from the Federal government.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: So with the

         19  supplemental, do we know  --  I mean I know we don't

         20  get the information for another six weeks, but do we

         21  know and anticipate how much a budget shortfall we

         22  potentially can face?

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We could face

         24  an $18 million dollar budget shortfall.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Just for the
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          2  supplemental?

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: On top of the $3

          5  million dollars from the other side?

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I am not sure

          7  whether that's in addition or part of it, but one of

          8  the early data runs that came out with the new

          9  formulas would have us losing about $18 million

         10  dollars.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: $18 million

         12  dollars.  Then would there  --  If we do lose out on

         13  that funding is there going to be an initiative put

         14  forward by the Department to offset that loss?

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I think we'd

         16  have to look at all of our options at that point to

         17  see what could be done, what services might be able

         18  to be covered under funding streams, what services

         19  within that budget could be provided and as we move

         20  towards the Executive Budget whether there are parts

         21  we would hope to be covered under City funding.

         22  It's not going to be easy though.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Now that

         24  supplemental, the $18 million dollars, what,

         25  exactly, types of programs does that get used for?

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The Ryan White

          3  Program.  The priorities are set by the Ryan White

          4  Planning Council and allocated to different areas so

          5  it would be up to the Planning Council to suggest

          6  the means of approaching that kind of a reduction.

          7  We are already in discussions with the Council, as

          8  we have been in all previous years, to say let's

          9  come up with the different scenarios; one scenario

         10  with level funding, another scenario with a small

         11  decrease, another scenario with a large decrease and

         12  let's try to agree, in advance, on prioritization.

         13  Those are always very difficult discussions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: At least we have

         15  the opportunity to look at the $18 million dollar

         16  situation before we pass the final budget.  What

         17  happens with the minority budget funding if we don't

         18  get the information until August?  I mean that's

         19  after our budget gets passed.  Do we have any plans

         20  for that?

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: My

         22  understanding is that the Minority AIDS Initiative

         23  Budget will be changed from a formula budget to a

         24  competitive budget.  I think that's the case and so

         25  the issue really there is to ensure that our
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          2  application is as competitive as possible.

          3                 As the Council may be aware, we've

          4  done extremely well for the past two to three years

          5  in terms of writing an application that scored as

          6  high or higher than any other jurisdiction in the

          7  country is what we've been told, and as a result,

          8  doing very well in terms of the resources coming

          9  into New York City.  We had a reduction a few years

         10  back that was attributed to our application and

         11  since that time whether or not that was actually

         12  really related to that because I don't know, but

         13  we've submitted a very strong application and

         14  focused on that and we've done quite well in

         15  competitive work.  So it's really very hard to know

         16  how to plan for something where we don't know.

         17                 If there is a shortfall in August, we

         18  would have to think about addressing that in the

         19  November Plan I would think if we were going to

         20  address it with City funds.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay.  Moving on

         22  to another disease that's impacting our City, and

         23  something that I know both of us and the

         24  Administration and the rest of the Council Members

         25  have been extremely concerned about, diabetes.  You
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          2  now we have the Diabetes Registry, the initiative

          3  that you put forward.  The Department committed $1.5

          4  million in funding in Fiscal '06 and $1.2 in '07,

          5  and the idea is to fund the Department's new

          6  Diabetes Registry.  The funding created a City- wide

          7  health registry of diabetic patients to improve

          8  treatment outcomes and outreach beginning with the

          9  pilot in the South Bronx.

         10                 The information in the registry is

         11  used for the valence epidemiological  --  hopefully

         12  I pronounced it correctly -  research and for

         13  feedback that is used for a pilot program in the

         14  South Bronx Public Health Office.  The pilot

         15  targeted approximately 270 providers, 100 medical

         16  practices and approximately 40,000 patients

         17  diagnosed with diabetes in the South Bronx.  Can the

         18  Department please update the Committee in respect to

         19  the Bronx pilot program?  Was it successful in

         20  reaching the above numbers of patients?  Will the

         21  Department role out the initiative to other parts of

         22  the City and what is the estimated cost of doing so?

         23    Were you able to distinguish diabetic patients,

         24  pre- diabetic patients and things of that nature?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Okay,
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          2  let me see if I can keep track.  Hi, I'm Dr. Mary

          3  Bassett.  I'm the Deputy Commissioner for Health

          4  Promotion and Disease Prevention.  Your first

          5  question was how well are we doing so far.  As

          6  you're aware, the Diabetes Registry is established

          7  by the electronic reporting of a blood test called a

          8  hemoglobin A1C test.  It's a test that reflects the

          9  blood sugar control over the past three months.  So

         10  our effort has been to ensure that we are receiving

         11  all of these results, and we now have 29

         12  laboratories reporting and are receiving 86 percent

         13  of our projected test load.  Another nine

         14  laboratories are in the initial test phase of

         15  reporting and that should take us up to full capture

         16  of all laboratory A1C's which is how we establish

         17  the registry.

         18                 We've been conducting a pilot with a

         19  number of different practice settings in the South

         20  Bronx.  We are presently working with some 200

         21  providers, and we will, in May of this year, be

         22  extending out to the full South Bronx.

         23                 You asked a question about City-

         24  wide.  If we're to extend this activity to feedback

         25  of test results to both providers and people with
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          2  diabetes we would need additional funding.  We

          3  estimate that amount at about $2 million.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: $2 million and

          5  how many patients do you think you would be able to

          6  see with that?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well

          8  we're expecting to reach about 40,000 people with

          9  diabetes in the South Bronx.  Have I got that right?

         10  Oops, I'm wrong.  This is not City- wide.  This was

         11  just in our high- risk communities, the three DPHO

         12  communities which as you may be aware include the

         13  South Bronx as well as East and Central Harlem and

         14  Central Brooklyn.  So that would not be City- wide.

         15  That would be in our high- risk communities.

         16                 An extension to those communities

         17  would cost an additional $2 million dollars, and

         18  City- wide I can only guess would cost more.

         19                 City- wide we have about 700,000

         20  people who have diabetes.  Of those as many as a

         21  third are unaware of their diagnosis.  So if we were

         22  looking at people with diagnosed diabetes, we're

         23  talking about half a million people there about

         24  City- wide.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And in the pre-
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          2  diabetics do we have a sense  --

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Together

          4  with people with diabetes and people with pre-

          5  diabetes comprises a little over a third of adults

          6  in New York City.  Some of our preliminary data

          7  suggests that pre- diabetes is quite common.  That's

          8  people without a diagnosis of diabetes yet.  They're

          9  are at very high risk of developing diabetes, but

         10  they do have abnormal control of their blood sugar.

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Just to

         12  emphasize, the goal of the registry is to improve

         13  care of people who currently have diabetes, and what

         14  we know from the Health and Nutrition Examination

         15  Survey that we did is that there are today more than

         16  100,000 New Yorkers with diabetes whose sugar levels

         17  are very seriously out of control greatly increasing

         18  their risk of amputations, blindness, kidney failure

         19  and early death.  Our priority then is to work with

         20  providers to improve the care of those individuals,

         21  and that's the primary goal of the registry in

         22  addition to helping us better understand and target

         23  our activities.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: At this point in

         25  time, I am going to give an opportunity to my
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          2  colleagues.  I know Council Member Kendall Stewart

          3  had requested the first question, then Council

          4  Member Inez Dickens, then Council Member Helen Sears

          5  and thank you very much for that response.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

          7  Mr. Chair. Doctor, I have a few questions that I

          8  wanted to get some clarity on.  First of all, Infant

          9  Mortality Reduction Initiative, we are eliminating

         10  $4.8 million dollars and you specifically said a

         11  while ago that we are getting some form of

         12  improvement.  Why would we eliminate that

         13  initiative?

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Again, the

         15  issue is the same that I was discussing with

         16  Chairperson Rivera that we would hope that as the

         17  budget is finalized those funds would be reflected.

         18  This is the same discussion we have each year.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So you're

         20  saying that we say that we will eliminate it, but

         21  put it back.  That's what you're saying?

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We would hope

         23  that in the finalization of the budget, between OMB,

         24  the Administration and the City Council, those funds

         25  would be reflected.

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Oh, you're

          3  looking for the City Council to put it back.  All

          4  right.  We will make sure that we do something about

          5  that.

          6                 What is the incidence of TB in New

          7  York City now?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We have

          9  slightly less than 1,000 cases per year.  That's

         10  down from 3,811 cases in 1992.  So we've had a big

         11  reduction, but now about 70 percent of our cases are

         12  among the foreign- born many of whom come in with a

         13  latent infection and then breakdown to active TB.

         14                 What we have seen is a real change in

         15  the distribution of our TB cases.  We are seeing

         16  more in Queens than in other boroughs and that's

         17  new.  We would like to continue clinical services in

         18  the Brownsville Clinic, and to provide those in

         19  conjunction with a community- based provider.

         20                 It has been a long time getting this

         21  partnership to happen through a series of delays

         22  including some facilities problems that came to

         23  light when we did this, but our facility had some

         24  leakage that needed to be addressed, roof work that

         25  needed to be done, but ultimately, what we would
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          2  like to do, which we think is a real win- win- win,

          3  is contract out our services to the community clinic

          4  in the area.  That would allow them more space. It

          5  would allow patients to get more comprehensive

          6  services and it would allow us to re- deploy staff

          7  to Queens for more TB specific services.  So to us

          8  this is a great opportunity and we thank the Council

          9  for it's support of this in the past, and, again,

         10  hope that that's reflected in the final budget.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So you were

         12  saying, basically, although we are eliminating the

         13  $125,000, we are going to try to increase the

         14  funding in some of these clinics to take care of

         15  that elimination.

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Again, we would

         17  hope that that would be reflected in the final

         18  budget.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: You also

         20  spoke about  --  I know in the past we try to do

         21  work with the schools in terms of the summer school

         22  nurses.  How are we going to be able to recruit

         23  these nurses this time around?

         24                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Again, in the

         25  past, the Council has made significant resources
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          2  available for this so that we can provide summer

          3  nursing presence.  If that funding is received this

          4  year then we will be able to provide that presence

          5  this year.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right, but

          7  how  --  I know there's a difficulty in recruiting

          8  nurses.  How are we going to go about doing that?

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There's a

         10  separate issue.  I thought your question was about

         11  the summer nurse program.  That I addressed that if

         12  we get the resources we can provide  --  We have no

         13  problem finding enough nurses for the summer.  Many

         14  nurses like to take the summer off.  Other nurses

         15  like to be able to work in the summer.  So there is

         16  an issue there.

         17                 The broader issue has to do with

         18  nursing recruitment.  I think that's a problem for

         19  all health care providers.  We have a major shortage

         20  of nurses in the City, the State, the country, and

         21  that shortage is projected to get worse over the

         22  coming years, but we have a full- time nurse

         23  recruiter.  We have had a number of qualified

         24  candidates and we have hired a number of additional

         25  nurses.  We do job fairs, mass mailings, trade
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          2  magazines, ads and so we've made some progress in

          3  that area, but always have more to do.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Just

          5  recently, I went to Dominican Republic and I know we

          6  have the same program here which is the Nutrition

          7  for Life, but I noticed in the Preliminary Budget

          8  the measly $74,000 dollars that we put in for that,

          9  it's being eliminated.  I know this Nutrition for

         10  Life appears to be doing great work so why is it

         11  being eliminated?

         12                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Again, we

         13  appreciate the Council's support last year, and we

         14  hope the Council will continue to support this year.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So you are in

         16  agreement that that should be back then?  That's

         17  what you're saying?

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         22  much, Council Member.  Next we have Council Member

         23  Inez Dickens, then Council Member Sears, and then

         24  Council Member Arroyo.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you.
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          2  Thank you, Chair Rivera and thank you, Commissioner

          3  Frieden for your testimony.  The Council supported

          4  the SPARK program expansion.  Can you tell us how

          5  many additional sites now have SPARK versus the

          6  former number that were previously funded and is

          7  SPARK now in all five boroughs?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We're trying to

          9  get you the exact numbers.  We can get you more

         10  information as we move forward.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER: I'm

         12  Dr. Lynn Silver, Assistant Commissioner for Chronic

         13  Disease Prevention and Control. Good morning.  The

         14  SPARK Program with the generous support of the City

         15  Council last year was able to increase

         16  significantly.  As of the end of December we were up

         17  to 2,500 trained staff in daycare and pre- K.  As

         18  the Commissioner mentioned, that was 35 percent of

         19  group daycare City- wide and 50 percent of pre- K

         20  instructors.  We hope to be at 60 percent of pre- K

         21  by the end of this fiscal year. I forget the exact

         22  number for group daycare.  It'll be 40 percent plus.

         23                 Our long- term target is to reach 100

         24  percent of those institutions, but it will require a

         25  couple more years of continuous funding levels to
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          2  allow that to happen, but we continue to have a

          3  tremendous response.

          4                 We've been focusing on the three DPHO

          5  areas with some expansion in Queens and Washington

          6  Heights, and also through the Daycare Academy, we do

          7  offer this training to daycares from all over the

          8  City although that's been a smaller volume, but we

          9  do hope to continue the expansion over the course of

         10  the next year.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So does that

         12  mean that it's in all five boroughs now, SPARK?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER: I'd

         14  have to double check that for you, Councilwoman.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Would you

         16  please?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER: I

         18  believe we do have some sites in all five boroughs,

         19  but I'd have to double check that for you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And if not,

         21  would you let me know which boroughs do not have

         22  SPARK at all?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER: We'll

         24  get back to you on that, but I'm pretty sure we have

         25  ones in every borough.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: One of the

          3  goals is to get every group daycare in the City

          4  trained.  There are 2,000, approximately, group

          5  daycares and we are well on the way toward that

          6  goal.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right

          8  because that's very important.

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes, thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Due to

         11  childhood obesity and diabetes.  The Department of

         12  Health and Mental Hygiene plans to achieve a savings

         13  of $3 million in Fiscal '09 through the sale of

         14  three City- owned properties.  Is that correct?

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right,

         17  that currently house clinics, the Department plans

         18  to relocate the services provided to other clinics.

         19  It is important to note that the four facilities

         20  being considered have Child Health Clinics located

         21  in the buildings.  Does the Department have a list

         22  of those facilities that are proposed for closure

         23  and how far from the closed facilities will the

         24  relocated services be available?

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Just to be
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          2  clear, these are Health Department buildings that

          3  are being considered.  We have not yet made a final

          4  determination of those that we want to consider

          5  moving forward on.  There are many buildings that we

          6  operate that we have no clinical services in.  Some

          7  of those centers may have Child Health Centers, some

          8  may not, but what we anticipate doing is, within the

          9  next six weeks or so, being able to brief Council on

         10  where we stand with that.  We're close to being able

         11  to move forward and discuss that, but we're not

         12  quite there yet.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: I'd

         14  appreciate it because I'd like the Chair to please

         15  get a list of those facilities that would be closed,

         16  what services are housed in them and where will

         17  those services be relocated.  In other words, how

         18  far would the community have to go in order to get

         19  those services.

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Absolutely.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Do you have

         22  to get State approval, by the way, for the closure

         23  or no?

         24                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes, if there

         25  is an Article 28 facility that changes it's services
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          2  then State approval is necessary.  Can you hang on

          3  just a minute?  So if there were  -- We as a Health

          4  Department have no clinical services so there would

          5  not be a need for State approval.  If the building

          6  had an HHC Child Health Center in it and it was not

          7  to be maintained in the building then that would

          8  require State approval, but remember that the

          9  options include continuing to have the Child Health

         10  Center in that facility, just not having the

         11  facility operated by the Department of Health if

         12  we're to go to a building that has a Child Health

         13  Center in it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: If you do

         15  have to seek State approval, will you notify the

         16  City Council, this Committee?

         17                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Sure.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Do you

         19  anticipate that there will be a decline in service

         20  levels in those communities in which these closures

         21  occur, particularly since services will have to be

         22  relocated?

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: No, I don't

         24  anticipate a significant decline in service

         25  provision.  I think one of the issues  --  Again, as

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  far as I know the only clinical services that are

          3  potentially being looked at now are Child Health

          4  Centers, some of which may actually stay in the

          5  building just under different building management,

          6  essentially, and some of which may be utilized at a

          7  very low rate.

          8                 Really I think one of things that

          9  we've found in health care over the last ten years

         10  is that consolidating services to higher volume

         11  centers may actually result in a better quality of

         12  care for the people who receive services at those

         13  places.  There are other situations where the

         14  transportation indicates that there is a real need

         15  to maintain services in an outposted location.  So I

         16  think that has to be really looked at on a

         17  community- by- community basis.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right,

         19  well I would appreciate it if you would keep this

         20  Committee apprised.

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Absolutely.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: The Nurse

         23  Home Visiting Initiative and the Newborn Home

         24  Visiting Program has that been expanded now to all

         25  five boroughs?  That's one.  Can you give us an
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          2  update on the programs because you have committed to

          3  $3.6 million, I believe, for Fiscal '07?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The focus of

          5  these programs is the district public health areas

          6  which are Central and East Harlem, the South Bronx

          7  and North and Central Brooklyn.

          8                 Let me take the programs separately

          9  starting with the much more intensive program, the

         10  Nurse Family Partnership. This is a rigorously

         11  proven program which has a nurse visiting a first-

         12  time mother from the first trimester of pregnancy

         13  through the second birthday of the child with a very

         14  structured set of interventions.  It's been a

         15  program that's been well documented to reduce child

         16  abuse, to improve school performance, school

         17  readiness, to reduce injuries, to improve maternal

         18  and child health, to reduce criminal activity among

         19  both  --  in the family. So it's a very important

         20  program.  It's a very intensive program. This is

         21  being scaled up in a few different ways. One is in

         22  the South Bronx.  One is in, again, the three DPHO

         23  areas. In addition, we have a program in Queens

         24  which is actually where we piloted this program in

         25  Jamaica, and that continues to operate. We've begun
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          2  a high- risk City- wide program for first- time

          3  mothers who we identify through any source whether

          4  it's through Rikers Island at the Rose M. Singer

          5  House of Detention, or through homeless shelters, or

          6  through schools or through other places where, City-

          7  wide, we could reach the highest risk mothers.  And

          8  that program is just beginning to increase it's size

          9  now and to operate now.

         10                 In terms of the Newborn Home Visiting

         11  Program, we do plan to expand this to all five

         12  boroughs.  The focus, again, is in the three highest

         13  need areas, however, we do anticipate having

         14  programs operating in all five boroughs.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right.

         16  So right now, it's not in all five boroughs.  Which

         17  boroughs is it not available?

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Currently, the

         19  program is operating in a large way in Brooklyn and

         20  is expanding in Manhattan and will be expanding in

         21  the Bronx in the near future if not already.  In

         22  terms of the other two boroughs  --  just one

         23  minute. We'll have to get back to you about the

         24  Newborn Home Visiting.  I have different information

         25  here.  Our focus, again, has been three district
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          2  public health office neighborhoods so I am not

          3  certain about Queens and Staten Island for this

          4  program.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Did the

          6  Department reach it's number that it said it was

          7  going to try to commit to for first- time mothers?

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The goal for

          9  the Nurse Family Partnership is to have more than

         10  1,300 families reached by the program by this fall

         11  so we'll see whether or not we reach that goal.

         12  It's a very ambitious target.  I'm hopeful that we

         13  can. Nurse recruiting is a barrier, and scale- up,

         14  as always, takes time. We have increased rapidly

         15  over the last few months up to more than 500.

         16                 In terms of the Newborn Visits, the

         17  goal is to have --  We'd like to be able to reach

         18  13,000 new mothers or families with new babies

         19  present, not necessarily only first- time mothers,

         20  with the focus in the highest need areas.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So I believe

         22  you had originally thought it was going to be

         23  15,000.  Is that correct? You haven't quite reached

         24  13,000.

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: No, we have
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          2  not.  For the coming fiscal year, we did reduce our

          3  goal slightly.  We did that because we want to

          4  change the model slightly to promote breastfeeding,

          5  and to include an in- hospital visit with the mother

          6  at time of delivery.  That means that the outreach

          7  workers who previously would be meeting a women for

          8  the first time in the field --  We piloted and it

          9  seemed to work well to have them visit, say hello in

         10  the hospital so that they know they're going to have

         11  a home visit, and we can emphasize the breastfeeding

         12  message because often, if you're there three or four

         13  weeks later in the home, it's too late to encourage

         14  breastfeeding.  In order to increase the

         15  breastfeeding component of this, we're trying to

         16  reach 13,000 at this point.  Again, there's a

         17  difference between how many doors you actually knock

         18  on and how many apartments you get into, and not

         19  everyone is there or opens the door or is willing to

         20  accept to services.  So we're looking at the number

         21  who accepts services and I will get back to you with

         22  information about that by borough.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right,

         24  thank you.  Now just one last thing, outreach.

         25  Where are you getting these families from and what
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          2  about immigrant families?

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes, this is

          4  one of the reasons that we have had to run this as a

          5  Health Department operated program.  We get the

          6  information from the birth certificates, and we

          7  added the phone number to the birth certificate in

          8  order to be able to reach out more effectively to

          9  parents.  So it is 100 percent of the newborns in

         10  New York City since we have 100 percent birth

         11  certification.  So it includes immigrant as well.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Regardless of

         13  immigrant status.

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes,

         15  absolutely.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you so

         17  much, Dr. Frieden.

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         20  much, Council Member.  Next we have Council Member

         21  Sears followed by Council Member Arroyo then Council

         22  Member James.  We've also been joined by Council

         23  Member Rosie Mendez and, of course, Council Member

         24  James.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  Chair.  Good morning, Commissioner.  Good to see you

          3  again.  I have three questions, but they are very

          4  short.

          5                 The first was is that in your

          6  testimony  --  Because I'm getting very concerned

          7  about the fact that AIDS is not really diminishing.

          8  It certainly is on the rise.  Because I was going to

          9  ask what you think may be the reasons, but you state

         10  that you are limited to expand the testing by

         11  outdated New York State requirements.  Can you share

         12  some of those requirements because we might be able

         13  to send a few messages.

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: When HIV

         15  testing first became available in the mid 1980's,

         16  there was concern that there were pro's and con's to

         17  getting tested, and that before a test was taken a

         18  whole infrastructure was established to emphasize

         19  the negative ramifications of testing for people, or

         20  potential negative ramifications.  I think since

         21  there is effective treatment for HIV, it's really

         22  changed that risk benefit ratio.  Last year, the CDC

         23  recommended that states eliminate separate written

         24  consent for HIV testing.  New York State law

         25  continues to require separate written consent.
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          2                 In our conversations with providers

          3  throughout the City, they emphasize that while that

          4  may not be a major problem for some of the specialty

          5  providers who do nothing but HIV testing, for

          6  primary care physicians, it's a very large barrier

          7  and so we would hope that that would be changed.

          8  It's not the only barrier to testing.  Stigma is

          9  another important barrier and the challenge of

         10  testing effectively to find people really who don't

         11  know their status is a large one.

         12                 Over the past two years, we've scaled

         13  up testing programs and we're just beginning to be

         14  able to learn the lessons of those programs.  I

         15  think in the next three to six months we'll be in a

         16  better position to say these programs work better,

         17  these programs don't work as well, and figure out

         18  how we can expand things more effectively.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I have had

         20  requests in my office of why we don't work with the

         21  insurance companies and in general check- ups that

         22  one would be tested for AIDS.  How do you feel about

         23  that?  I don't have a position on it, but I've been

         24  asked that.

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Right.  The

                                                            52

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  general idea is that everyone should be offered an

          3  HIV test.  It should be voluntary and the default

          4  value really should be that everyone should be

          5  tested.  If someone prefers not to be tested, that's

          6  entirely their right, but we know that people who

          7  are tested for HIV live longer, they get into care

          8  better, and they reduce their risky behavior so they

          9  reduce the spread of HIV.

         10                 Insurance is a complicated issue

         11  because we don't want people being rejected from

         12  insurance coverage because of HIV status.  So it's a

         13  little complicated there, but generally we need to

         14  incorporate HIV testing into routine primary care.

         15  It is not incorporated there now.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Does the HHC?

         17  Is that done, if someone asks for it?  What is  --

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: HHC has made

         19  very good progress expanding HIV testing.  Some

         20  people have used that progress to say well we don't

         21  need a change in State law.  I think that's

         22  extremely misguided.  They're still testing less

         23  than ten percent of their patients.  So even though

         24  they expanded testing by 60 percent or so last year,

         25  they're testing really a small proportion of the
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          2  people who need to be tested, not through any fault

          3  of their own.  I've worked closely with many of the

          4  different HHC facilities.  They try hard to expand

          5  testing, but given the State laws, which are not

          6  consistent with CDC recommendations, it's just not

          7  possible for them to do that effectively now.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So we're sort

          9  of at stumbling blocks here with some of that

         10  antiquated  --

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I remain

         12  hopeful that there will be change at the State

         13  level.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well I remember

         15  when certainly the Babies Bill came in.  That was a

         16  horrendous undertaking for the Assemblywoman, and

         17  that was a battle she had to take on for a long time

         18  and it seems we have to take this one on.

         19                 On another issue, the cervical cancer

         20  vaccine, the HPV, what are we doing with that in the

         21  City of New York?  Is it on a voluntary basis or is

         22  it being done?  What is the status of it?

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: HPV is a new

         24  vaccine which can prevent most cervical cancer.

         25  It's a three- dose series given over a six- month
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          2  period.  We have expanded the availability of HPV

          3  through our Vaccines for Children Program.  The

          4  Vaccines for Children Program is a Federal program

          5  which provides free vaccines to children, not just

          6  Medicaid eligible, but other children as well and

          7  regardless of immigration status.  We've provided

          8  more than 50,000 doses of HPV vaccine through the

          9  Vaccines for Children Program.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Can I jump  --

         11  At what age does it start?

         12                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The Vaccines

         13  for Children Program ends at age 18.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And it starts

         15  at what age? What is the youngest?

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Well zero for

         17  general vaccines, nine for HPV which is the first

         18  age at which HPV is recommended.  Medicaid would

         19  cover the cost for young women age 19 to 26.

         20                 I want to emphasize that vaccinations

         21  are best done in the context of primary care, and

         22  the way to really improve vaccination rates is to

         23  get vaccines incorporated into primary care.  The

         24  way things work generally with new vaccines is that

         25  over a period of several years, vaccines work their
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          2  way into practice. We track vaccination rates

          3  through the City- wide Immunization Registry which

          4  has an increasingly complete reporting of all

          5  vaccines given in New York City as do a couple dozen

          6  other states --  dozens of other states in the U.S..

          7                 There is currently only one

          8  manufacturer of the HPV vaccine and the cost is

          9  high.  It's $120 dollars per dose, or $360 dollars

         10  per series.  That increases the total cost of

         11  vaccination quite substantially for all of the

         12  vaccines that a child needs.

         13                 One of the issues that's came up

         14  recently is what are we doing as a health

         15  department, doing in our immunization clinics, and

         16  in our STD clinics and I'll take those one at a

         17  time. In our immunization clinics, by June 1, we

         18  anticipate having HPV available for girls.  The

         19  challenge there has been that the immunization

         20  clinics  --  It's fairly complicated, but they're

         21  not eligible for the VFC program that we operate.

         22  There is a way that we can work to get them

         23  eligible.  That takes a couple of  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: What makes them

         25  ineligible?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: It's a Federal

          3   --  I actually don't understand the details of the

          4  Federal regulations, but apparently we can make them

          5  eligible through some process that we're undertaking

          6  and should be complete with Vaccine In by June 1.

          7  For young women ages 19 to 26, we would seek

          8  Medicaid reimbursement, but for those who are

          9  uninsured, it would be a substantial financial

         10  commitment on our part. Again, the real goal here is

         11  to get HPV introduced into primary care.

         12                 In terms of our STD clinics, STD

         13  clinics are not a great place to do vaccination.

         14  People come for an acute illness or concern of an

         15  acute illness.  We looked at our experience with the

         16  Hepatitis B vaccination series, which we are

         17  offering at our STD clinics, and which is protective

         18  after two doses.  We have been unable to get from

         19  the company whether HPV is protective after two

         20  doses, but for the HBV, Hepatitis B Virus, the liver

         21  virus, our rate of getting people through three

         22  doses is nine percent.  That's pretty awful in terms

         23  of a rate and that's despite reminders and trying to

         24  reach out to people.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You mean they
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          2  just stop after the second one?

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: After the first

          4  or second.  So they come for an acute illness.  They

          5  have something they're concerned about and to get

          6  the full three-dose series in, it's not particularly

          7  useful.  Since the two doses is somewhat protective

          8  in HBV  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: What is the

         10  time frame between the doses that they  --

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Zero, one and

         12  six, I believe, or zero, two and six.  I am not

         13  certain.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: From the second

         15  to the third and on?

         16                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The third dose

         17  in six months after the first.  I don't remember

         18  when the second dose is.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So they get

         20  lost.  They sure can get lost in that.

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes.  The other

         22  issue that's --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I'm sorry, but

         24  as you answer the questions  --  Does that mean that

         25  the first two they've had, or the first one, are
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          2  considered worthless?

          3                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: In HBV, the

          4  second dose in quite helpful, so even if you don't

          5  get the third dose you've done some good.  We've

          6  been unable to get from the company whether that's

          7  the case with the HPV vaccine.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And they don't

          9  answer you?

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: They said they

         11  don't have the data.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: They don't have

         13  the data and we're using it.  Okay.

         14                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The other issue

         15  that's come up is a school mandate for  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: My confusion in

         17  not directed at you.  Believe me.

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The other issue

         19  that's come up is a school mandate for HPV

         20  vaccination.  School mandates are generally set at

         21  the State level, not at the City level, and

         22  generally they're several years after a vaccine has

         23  been in use, not immediately after.

         24                 It's also relevant to state that

         25  there will be a second manufacturer coming on line
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          2  with HPV vaccine perhaps in the next year or so.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: What would

          4  happen if you thought of imposing a regulation that

          5  they had to commit to the three vaccines?

          6  Certainly, if it's directed to the primary care and

          7  that there is a facility in which to do it  --

          8                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The only way

          9  we've done that successfully in immunization is by

         10  school entry mandates.  School entry mandates result

         11  in very high levels of compliance and that I think

         12  is where we will be going.

         13                 The challenge is the adolescent and

         14  adult vaccines. We have a much lower rate of

         15  adherence.  When we had to with HBV in catch- up

         16  because there was about a decade when the HBV

         17  vaccine had just come out and there were people in

         18  middle school who needed it hadn't gotten it as

         19  children.  The rates of uptake were really quite

         20  low, very difficult to do well.  We tried very hard

         21  and we vaccinated a lot of kids, but it was not a

         22  terribly successful program.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I could see

         24  that, and if that third one is six months later,

         25  particularly if it was done in schools or something,
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          2  if it's not coordinated prior to their leaving the

          3  school, because you've got holidays and stuff and

          4  summer vacation, it's almost like we're going back

          5  and spending a lot of money.  So I think we need to

          6  look at how we can correct some of that stuff.

          7                 I know about three years ago, I had

          8  read where cervical cancer was rising among the

          9  Latino population  --

         10                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Rates have been

         11  stable or decreased slightly.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Because we had

         13  a forum and then we provided free screening at that

         14  time and the attendance was very, very large and I'm

         15  thinking that perhaps we should go back to that

         16  group.

         17                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Also it is

         18  important to state that even if we had universal HPV

         19  vaccination, women would still need to get Pap

         20  smears.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I can see we

         22  have some work to help you do that.

         23                 One other thing, this has to do with

         24  food safety inspections.  What is your agency doing

         25  in the Preliminary Fiscal 2008 to combat the problem
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          2  that has been all over the place?  Do you need more

          3  inspectors?  What do you need?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I would like to

          5  take a few moments to talk about our food inspection

          6  program.  There are really  --  The recent events

          7  highlighted two different programs within the

          8  Department.  One is our program for inspecting food

          9  service establishments.  The other is our program

         10  for combating rodent infestation, and they're

         11  separate programs and I'd like to discuss them

         12  separately.

         13                 In terms of the food inspection

         14  program, I would emphasize that this is a very well

         15  run program at the Department. If we look at how

         16  we've done over the last few years, we went from

         17  inspecting about 88 percent of all restaurants in

         18  Fiscal '02 to inspecting, essentially, every

         19  restaurant every year now.  We increased the number

         20  of restaurants by about 56 percent from '02 to '06.

         21  We also improved our criteria for inspecting so we

         22  changed them in '03 to be much more health- based.

         23                 We also moved entirely to a handheld

         24  system.  So that the inspections are standardized,

         25  the inspectors go out with a portable printer, they
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          2  print out the inspection report and get it counter-

          3  signed there on the spot.  We've reduced the number

          4  of days it takes to reinspect the restaurant after

          5  it fails and initial inspection from 36 days to 14

          6  days.  The handheld computer program that we have is

          7  an award- winning program.  It's one of the few

          8  government applications to be nationally recognized

          9  and we are the first, and, as far as I know, still

         10  the only restaurant inspection program that's

         11  entirely handheld.

         12                 Our website is available with

         13  detailed information on every inspection we do.  The

         14  program itself has multiple levels of corruption

         15  prevention including regularly offering bribes to

         16  inspectors and regularly reporting if any inspector

         17  is offered a bribe and shutting restaurants if

         18  that's confirmed.  In the five years that I've been

         19  here, I have not been aware of any confirmed

         20  incident, but we look very carefully.  There was, in

         21  the news, an incident of an inspector who was not

         22  behaving appropriately on the job.  The program

         23  immediately investigated that when it was reported

         24  and immediately terminated that employee.

         25                 We're looking carefully at the recent

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  incidents because every program could be improved,

          3  and within the next week or two, we'll have a report

          4  on that and a series of recommendations for how we

          5  can improve the program.

          6                 We've already begun.  In this week,

          7  we'll be training all of our restaurant inspectors

          8  more in the understanding of recognizing rodent

          9  infestations and dealing with them.  So I think

         10  there's a lot that we have done and are doing to

         11  improve the program.  Like any program, it could

         12  always be better.  In terms of the recent incident,

         13  we'll have, within the next week or two, we'll have

         14  a report outlining what we think went wrong, because

         15  clearly things went wrong, and what should be done

         16  to institute systems fixes to prevent problems in

         17  the future.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Will you share

         19  that report with us?

         20                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yes, when it's

         21  ready, we'll certainly share it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         23                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: In terms of the

         24  broader issue of rodent control, this is a real

         25  challenge.  I think every few years for the last
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          2  many decades, a new war on rats is declared, and a

          3  few years later another war on rats is declared.

          4  The fact is that rats have been with humans ever

          5  since there has been human civilization.  They're

          6  worse the more urbanized we've become, and, to a

          7  very great extent, rate control is a question of

          8  reducing food sources.  Rats multiply very rapidly.

          9  They are formidable as enemies.  They can jump three

         10  feet straight up.  They can fall five floors

         11  straight down.  They can crawl up a vertical wall.

         12  They can gnaw through cement and metal.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: We actually saw

         14  that in the video.

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Yeah, thank

         16  you, and they're formidable, and I think we are

         17  looking carefully at what we can do to try to reduce

         18  the numbers because this is an issue which is a

         19  major issue for urban blight and inner- city areas.

         20                 We begun, several years ago, a

         21  redesign of the program that aims to be more

         22  proactive, and not just responding to complaints,

         23  which is very important to do, but also going out

         24  proactively to areas where people may not be

         25  complaining so much because they see so many rats.
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          2  Also understanding that there's never an infestation

          3  just in one building.  The infestation is in a

          4  community, a neighborhood, and how can we identify

          5  the food sources and reduce them and track a

          6  reduction of them in that area. So this is an area

          7  we I think we certainly have more work to be done.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Do you have

          9  anything in the budget, since we're talking in a

         10  budget process, to actually stage a very strong

         11  public campaign?  Maybe in conjunction with

         12  Sanitation, because actually wherever I walk around

         13  the City I don't have to inquire whether you've

         14  gotten complaints because the trash and the areas

         15  are just so inundated with garbage.  It seems to me

         16  that the advocacy and one form of education, and

         17  perhaps if it's a joint- agency effort, and I ask

         18  that because perhaps this is time when you need some

         19  money in the budget to do that very thing because it

         20  is a major problem.  We're growing and people are

         21  leaving more trash out.  So I think we need to help

         22  you on how you can certainly not make it go away,

         23  but we certainly can at least educate people more

         24  than we are.

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There are real
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          2  challenges. Basically, the harsher the winter, the

          3  fewer the rats, and we haven't had a lot of harsh

          4  winters lately.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Until we come

          6  to 90 degrees.

          7                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The 311 is a

          8  major resource here.  If there is trash, people

          9  should be calling 311 to get the areas cleaned.  We

         10  have an inter- agency coordinating group of 19

         11  agencies that meets weekly on rat control issues,

         12  but quite frankly I don't think we have the

         13  resources we need to significantly reduce the rodent

         14  population in New York City.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You mean by

         16  concentration of some campaigns that are probably in

         17  process?

         18                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Not just an

         19  educational campaign, but a focused approach to a

         20  community where we would track what the problems

         21  are, intervene and determine whether or not that

         22  intervention is succeeding.  We'd like to pilot that

         23  in the Bronx where the infestations are the worst,

         24  and, if it worked, we would like to expand it City-

         25  wide, but we don't' have the resources to do that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Maybe, Mr.

          3  Chair, we might look at that in our budget process

          4  and do that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Definitely.  As I

          6  stated earlier, I think that when this whole entire

          7  situation took place, I made a statement that we

          8  should let the Department do their due diligence and

          9  rectify this situation, and then we'll have a

         10  hearing, after the budget process, to discuss what

         11  possible things we could put forward to really try

         12  to mitigate this.

         13                 I think the rats are winning the war.

         14    You mentioned they breed very rapidly.  I think we

         15  should have a new condom campaign for them so we

         16  could try to prevent that, a sterilization campaign.

         17    We have to figure something out, but we're going

         18  to work with the Department to try to figure that

         19  out.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         21  Thank you very much, Commissioner.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Next we have

         23  Council Member Arroyo, followed by Council Member

         24  James, and we've been joined by Council Member John

         25  Liu.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chair.  Good morning, Commissioner.  It's still

          4  morning, almost over.  Later part of 2006, we heard

          5  testimony regarding a plan change for the Oral

          6  Health Program in schools and it was targeted to go

          7  from treatment to prevention model.  You testified

          8  that you're implementing a model which includes

          9  intensive outreach in school, obtaining parental

         10  consent, screening, and, if I remember correctly,

         11  there was an issue of utilization that there were

         12  many resources available and children were just not

         13  taking advantage of it.  What's the status of the

         14  transition?  Has it started and have you seen an

         15  increase in the number of children using the

         16  services?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: Hi.  Thank

         18  you.  My name is Louise Cohen.  I am the Deputy

         19  Commissioner for Healthcare Access and Improvement.

         20  We have begun to pilot this in some schools,

         21  particularly in this month which is Dental Health

         22  Month. I guess February and March are both Dental

         23  Health months.  We've often seen an increase in

         24  utilization in those months as we have targeted

         25  outreach.  We'll be able to give you more
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          2  information as we finish collecting the data and see

          3  where our efforts have gotten us to.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: One of the

          5  concerns that we raised at that hearing was what

          6  happens to a child that needs treatment, and there

          7  were to be some discussions around connecting to

          8  neighborhood providers that would be able to step in

          9  and take up the work that the clinics and the

         10  schools were doing.  How is that going?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: We

         12  continue to refer children both to our own health

         13  centers as well as to community providers.  There

         14  are also dentists in the schools now not only doing

         15  sealants and the new model, but they are continuing

         16  to do treatment as well.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: So if there is

         18  a child that comes in and has an emergency or some

         19  urgent need, they're taken care of without being

         20  referred out?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: To the

         22  extent that the dentist can take care of it at that

         23  time.  If there is a dentist there then, yes, we

         24  would do that.  Otherwise, we would refer them out

         25  appropriately.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: So when do we

          3  hope to hear how the change is taking hold and

          4  whether the numbers are improving?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: We would

          6  expect to see some changes from our February and

          7  March activities by the end of April.  Certainly,

          8  we'd be able to get some data there.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: So we'll get a

         10  report?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN:

         12  Absolutely.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Commissioner,

         14  I am going to go back to HIV and AIDS funding.

         15  There has been a great deal of concern raised by

         16  traditional community- based providers.  The Ryan

         17  White Re- authorization Act indicates that, or there

         18  is a provision that we receive not less than 95

         19  percent of the funding that we received in 2006.

         20  That means that we can anticipate at least a five

         21  percent cut in funding.

         22                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Again, our cut

         23  could be even more.  It could be up to $18 million

         24  dollars.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: How does that
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          2  violate the re authorization and the provision

          3  written in it, and what do we do about it?

          4                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The hold

          5  harmless provision, as I understand it, is only for

          6  the base not for supplemental. Supplemental, if I'm

          7  correct  --  so that our base only went down $3

          8  million which is about five percent, but the

          9  supplemental could go down quite substantially.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: The different

         11  levels of funding are the core, the supplemental and

         12  the minority AIDS initiatives.  So the core funding

         13  is the only one that is attached to that provision

         14  in that act?

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I'm not

         16  certain, but I believe so.  Our community partners

         17  report that that's the case.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: There are two

         19  issues that I want to talk about, and it's a

         20  question, and a thought, and something that we

         21  started having conversation with the Department for

         22  the Aging and DOH I think in early February.  The

         23  numbers of HIV/AIDS in those of 50 are very alarming

         24  and very concerning.  My understanding is that about

         25  30 percent of the people who have HIV and AIDS in
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          2  our City are over 50.  One the questions that

          3  continues to come up and the testimony that I always

          4  hear is providers are not doing the screening;

          5  they're not asking the questions.  This Committee

          6  and the committee that I chair, the Committee on

          7  Aging, started a task force of community providers

          8  and advocates around aging and HIV and AIDS to help

          9  us to develop a concept for how we can begin to, as

         10  a City, respond to the fact that our seniors are

         11  also exposed to this disease.

         12                 I have personal story that I tell

         13  about a close to 79 year old man who could have

         14  potentially infected five or six women in a building

         15  that he lived, and he didn't know his status and he

         16  was active and plug in the blanks.  So what are we

         17  doing to get providers to engage in conversations,

         18  not just with everyone, but certainly with our

         19  seniors about education prevention and even

         20  counseling for being screened and identified?

         21                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We've tried

         22  several things. We have something called Public

         23  Health Detailing which is a program that really

         24  takes a page out of the book of the pharmaceutical

         25  companies.  We've hired public health
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          2  representatives, like drug company representatives,

          3  and they visit essentially every primary care

          4  provider in high risk neighborhoods every month or

          5  two with a product line of public health

          6  interventions whether it's flu vaccination, or

          7  colonoscopy, or HIV testing and in that they have a

          8  package that they provide which provides materials

          9  for the waiting room to be a display table, posters,

         10  handouts for patients, scientific articles for the

         11  doctors, post- it pads, or things that people can

         12  remember, and we have done that with HIV testing.

         13  We also send a bulletin out to every doctor, every

         14  licensed physician, nurse practitioner in New York

         15  City called City Health Information on HIV Testing.

         16  So we try hard.  We also work with health systems

         17  like HHC and private hospitals to increase their HIV

         18  testing.

         19                 I think in addition to the

         20  legislative changes that we discussed earlier,

         21  another very major area for us is electronic health

         22  records.  Realistically there are more than 2,500

         23  different clinical guidelines.  Primary care

         24  practitioners spend on average less than eight

         25  minutes with a patient.  There is a tremendous
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          2  potential to use electronic health records to

          3  support doctors and other health providers to do a

          4  better job doing prevention, offering screening,

          5  offering testing, providing counseling, providing

          6  written information in multiple languages.  Last

          7  week I visited one provider that was using an

          8  electronic health record in the Bronx and saw

          9  already really significant improvements in quality

         10  of care.

         11                 This is a great potential and we're

         12  really focusing on this.  If things go well, by the

         13  end of this year, we'll have hundreds of doctors up

         14  on a new system that I mentioned in my testimony

         15  which will have prevention really in- built to the

         16  process of care.  We also are working with really

         17  any provider that has an electronic health record to

         18  try to get more prevention things like HIV

         19  counseling and offer of HIV testing into the routine

         20  workflow.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: We don't

         22  screen well for diabetes and the other concerns that

         23  we continue to talk about. We're talking about a

         24  population that's over 60 where a doctor the last

         25  thing they're going to think about talking to this
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          2  population is HIV and AIDS.  It just doesn't seem to

          3  come up and that's a problem.  They're concerned

          4  about the diabetes, the hypertension, dementia,

          5  whatever else aging brings to our life, but HIV and

          6  AIDS is not front and center.

          7                 Here's the issue.  This man came into

          8  contact with seven woman who were over the age of

          9  70.  Each of them connected to a primary care

         10  provider, and not one of them has received any

         11  information from any of their primary care providers

         12  about HIV and AIDS because you know we kind of think

         13  we don't need to focus on them, and here is a

         14  reality that these seven women were in contact with

         15  someone who died with HIV and AIDS, and probably did

         16  not know it himself, who was an individual well into

         17  his sixties, who was connected to a primary care

         18  provider, who never talked to him about HIV and AIDS

         19  and the possibility that he could of been infected.We

         20  have to change that reality.  Electronic medical

         21  records ain't the way we're going to do it.  It's

         22  not going to happen that way.  We need to be very

         23   --  do it on purpose with an intent to make sure

         24  that we raise the level of awareness of our medical

         25  personnel, not our community folks.  That's a
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          2  different argument and that's a different program.

          3  But for a provider to have a patient in and out of

          4  his office on a monthly basis, every three months,

          5  to monitor chronic illness and not engage in a

          6  conversation of that nature is unacceptable.  We

          7  have to change, Doctor.  We have to change that

          8  because the reality is that our seniors are out

          9  there, thanks to Viagra and Cialis, alls kinds of

         10  stuff is happening, and you know what, they came to

         11  our Committee hearing in June and they were very

         12  proud of the fact to testify that hey we're out

         13  there, we're active, you have to take care of us

         14  too.  So it's something that we have only begun to

         15  see what resources in our City we need to designate.

         16                 When we look at Ryan White and is

         17  that the only source of funding that we identify in

         18  our City for HIV and AIDS and prevention, education,

         19  we need to regroup and rethink how we handle this in

         20  our City because we are no longer talking about gay

         21  men. We're no longer talking about young people not

         22  taking precautions. We're now talking about the

         23  City's senior population who are out there and are

         24  at risk.

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I agree with
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          2  most of what you say.  I'll just make a couple of

          3  points.  There's about $32 million dollars in HIV

          4  prevention outside of Ryan White from  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: How much?

          6                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: $32 million

          7  outside from Ryan White both from CDC and from City

          8  funds.  There's another $50 to $60 million a year in

          9  HOPA funding for housing and housing related

         10  services.

         11                 I just will comment that we've spent

         12  an enormous amount of effort educating doctors on a

         13  wide variety of things and most of it doesn't make

         14  much of an impact.  So what I described are some

         15  ways that we think   --  You know I wouldn't

         16  discount the importance of an electronic health

         17  record because what that allows you to do is flash

         18  up on the screen, while the patient is in the room,

         19  you haven't done HIV prevention counseling.  You

         20  should do it now, and if you don't want to do it, at

         21  least click this button, print out this page, and

         22  hand it to the patient.  Obviously that's not in it

         23  of itself a solution, but it can be an important

         24  part of a solution.

         25                 The other thing I'll mention relating
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          2  to the type of case you described is that we've

          3  recently begun expanding a Field Services Unit

          4  within the Health Department to do voluntary,

          5  confidential partner notification.  We've had very

          6  good experience initially with this.  The vast

          7  majority of people living with HIV, when we talk to

          8  them, are happy to have assistance notifying

          9  partners, and through this program, we've been able

         10  to offer testing to hundreds of people who have been

         11  exposed to HIV and to find people who are newly

         12  infected with HIV.  It's a new program. It's been

         13  authorized by the law since 2000, but the Department

         14  just hadn't begun doing it until the past year.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: My background

         16  in health care administration  --  I appreciate that

         17  part of it, and we always have to rely on partners

         18  warning us or telling us who their partners are in

         19  order for DOH to take advantage of that law, but the

         20  point remains that we must change the way we're

         21  doing this, and if provider compliance is an issue

         22  then we need to look at how we change that to make

         23  providers more responsible too  --  If they don't do

         24  what we need them to do, we will legislate what we

         25  need them to do.  Public health issues that can be
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          2  prevented force us to force people to do the right

          3  thing, and if they won't do it voluntarily then

          4  maybe we need to talk about forcing it through

          5  legislation.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          7  much, Council Member Arroyo.  Next we have Council

          8  Member James.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Commissioner,

         10  I'm going to be brief because I'm running between

         11  here and the Department of Education.  I have issues

         12  with respect to the Department of Education in my

         13  district.

         14                 In all of the rancor between the

         15  Governor and the special interest groups, as he

         16  describes them, I'm trying to engage in a fact

         17  finding, and I need for an arbitrator or someone, I

         18  guess I'll describe you as an independent voice, how

         19  do we fare with respect to the Executive Budget on

         20  the State level in regards to HHC hospitals, in

         21  regards to Medicaid funding?  Is it a reorganization

         22  and is it a focus to under- serve communities?  I

         23  don't want to put you on the spot, but I really need

         24  an honest answer.

         25                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: The issues are
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          2  tough, and I think HHC questions are best addressed

          3  to HHC.  There are great complexities of their

          4  funding.  They win in some areas.  They lose in some

          5  areas.

          6                 I think that the bigger picture is

          7  important to keep in mind.  We do have in New York

          8  City and New York State far too many hospital beds,

          9  and we do have far too little high quality

         10  ambulatory care capacity, and that is a direct

         11  reflection  --  It's not because hospitals or health

         12  care workers are mean or evil or greedy.  It's a

         13  direct reflection of the incentives that the State

         14  has established over the last couple of decades

         15  where it makes more financial sense to hospitalize

         16  someone than to prevent a hospitalization.  In fact,

         17  the more effective you are at preventing

         18  hospitalizations, often, the worse you do

         19  financially.

         20                 Ambulatory care rates have stagnated.

         21    We don't pay enough for keeping people out of

         22  hospitals.  Our goal should be to keep hospitals

         23  afloat.  It should be to keep people out of

         24  hospitals, and then for whatever hospitals are

         25  needed to make sure that they operate very
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          2  effectively.  So I think we're in the transition

          3  time and it's undoubtedly going to be painful

          4  particularly for people who work in hospitals which

          5  may need to downsize substantially.

          6                 The Berger Commission I think did

          7  point in a sensible direction and getting that

          8  through is going to be very challenging.  So I think

          9  what happens in Albany after all is said and done

         10   --  We'll have to see.  There may be more said then

         11  done, but the reality is that we do have a health

         12  care system in this State and in this country that

         13  really isn't very rational, and I think Mayor

         14  Bloomberg outlined that very perceptively and

         15  accurately in a health care policy address last

         16  month in Washington D.C. that I think provides a

         17  blueprint for how to move forward in improving

         18  health care.

         19                 The challenge is to make sure that we

         20  don't exacerbate what I call the inverse care law in

         21  the changes that we make.  The inverse care law

         22  being that people who need services the most get

         23  them the least and vice versa.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: But Mayor

         25  Bloomberg also testified in Albany that New York
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          2  City did not receive it's fair share in this

          3  Executive Budget.  Was that particular to health

          4  care or was that another  --

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: That was in

          6  general.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Oh, in general.

          8    Okay.  Now what I'm noticing particularly in

          9  Central Brooklyn, are more and more individuals who

         10  appear to have mental health issues on the street.

         11  In your presentation you talk much about health in

         12  general, but not much with respect to mental health

         13  services and the funding of community- based mental

         14  health programs.

         15                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Right.  We have

         16  a separate Committee and a separate oversight

         17  hearing that I'll be testifying at on mental hygiene

         18  issues.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Very good.  I

         20  also attended this week a forum on AIDS funding

         21  particularly in communities of color.  My colleague,

         22  Council Member Arroyo, talked about the feminization

         23  of the AIDS epidemic and the graying of the AIDS

         24  epidemic and I'm seeing that particularly in Central

         25  Brooklyn.  As you know, Central Brooklyn is the
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          2  pandemic of the AIDS virus, and a significant number

          3  of organizations that focus on communities of color

          4  have criticized this Administration and the State

          5  with respect to funding for those organizations.

          6  Are we targeting community- based organizations

          7  that, again, address communities of color, or is it

          8  still general and broad?

          9                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: No, we target

         10  very specifically.  In fact, we limited a large part

         11  of our competitive request for proposals to

         12  organizations that were operating in the areas that

         13  have the highest needs for HIV services.  We have

         14  also changed the way we contract out for services.

         15  We're paying on a performance basis.  Our

         16  responsibility is not to providers.  Our

         17  responsibility is to people living with AIDS and to

         18  people who are at risk for getting HIV to help

         19  prevent them from getting HIV. That is done by

         20  helping providers do that very effectively.  It's a

         21  transition and it's a very difficult transition for

         22  some of the providers.  We are trying to make that

         23  as smooth and easy as possible, but our goal is to

         24  work as effectively as possible and to begin seeing

         25  outcomes for the resources that we are providing.
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          2                 As an example, for the first time

          3  ever, we're providing testing dollars and we're

          4  rigorously evaluation okay, how much money did you

          5  get, and not just how many people did you test, and

          6  not just how many HIV positive people did you test,

          7  but how many people  --  Were you the person that

          8  found out they were HIV positive the first time?

          9  Because what many of these testing programs around

         10  the country have done is oh let's get ten people who

         11  are HIV positive.  It makes our numbers look great.

         12  So I'm not saying people are doing that here, but

         13  it's a challenge to run these programs well, and as

         14  we learn lessons, we want to learn that with

         15  community groups to say hey you know what's working

         16  in any of our programs.  What can the government

         17  testing programs learn from the community testing

         18  programs and vice versa.  So that we can run the

         19  programs as effectively as possible.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: At some point

         21  in time, I would like to have a meeting with you to

         22  discuss your performance standards and outcomes, and

         23  it's impact on community- based organizations in

         24  Central Brooklyn.

         25                 The Mayor in his State of the City
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          2  talked about an initiative focused on diabetes.  I

          3  arrived late.  Did you discuss that at all, the

          4  Mayor's initiative on diabetes or  --

          5                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We discussed

          6  some in my testimony and in the previous response

          7  from Dr. Bassett. Basically, in broadest terms we

          8  want to try to prevent diabetes by increasing

          9  physical activity, and improving nutrition.  We've

         10  tried to increase physical activity through the

         11  SPARK Program in preschools, pre- K and schools by

         12  improving physical education in the schools, in

         13  conjunction with the schools, by implementing the

         14  Fitness Grant Program to provide feedback to

         15  students, by improving school nutrition, by our

         16  Healthy Bodegas Program.

         17                 In terms of diabetes care, our focus

         18  is the Diabetes Registry, as well as outreach to

         19  women with gestational diabetes, which has begun

         20  over the past year to help women avoid long- term

         21  diabetes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Is there an

         23  increase fund specifically targeted in the

         24  particular area or are all these programs going to

         25  get  --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: There's no

          3  increase from FY '07 to FY '08 proposed.  We

          4  currently are funded to do a pilot program in the

          5  South Bronx.  Expanding that to other high- need

          6  communities would require additional resources.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I put in a

          8  resolution in support of a State law which would

          9  mandate HPV vaccinations, and so are you in support

         10  of that State bill?

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: We discussed

         12  this at some length earlier.  I think, generally, we

         13  wait a few years after a new vaccine comes out.

         14  There's a new manufacturer coming on line within the

         15  next year or two and I think, ultimately, we'll

         16  undoubtedly be in a school mandate for HPV and other

         17  new vaccines, but it's a question of timing and

         18  allowing providers, and parents, and the public to

         19  be familiar with, and be comfortable with, and have

         20  additional experience with the vaccine.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, for the

         22  record, have you taken a position with respect to

         23  this bill which is currently pending in the State?

         24                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: No.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: There's much
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          2  fanfare that was last year with regard to the ending

          3  of this budget dance, but when it comes to health

          4  initiatives we haven't ended this budget dance. A

          5  number of initiatives that the City Council has put

          6  forth have been eliminated from your budget.  They

          7  include AIDS funding and a list of other

          8  organizations.  Is there any discussion with the

          9  City Council about ending the budget dance with

         10  respect to your agency?

         11                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: I would think

         12  that would be taking place between OMB and the

         13  Council not at the agency level.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: My last

         15  question is regards to the health clinics.  We had

         16  the hearing on December 14, 2006.  We averted the

         17  layoffs of the dental clinics and the layoff of some

         18  of the employees.  Have any of them been furloughed

         19  or any services been reduced?  Are there any plans

         20  for any reduction in service? We talked about

         21  preventive.  I was opposed to preventive services in

         22  nature given the ages of the people who we were

         23  servicing.  Can you give me an update with respect

         24  to the dental health clinics?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COHEN: We are

                                                            88

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  continuing to proceed on our pilot where we will be

          3  going into schools doing a non- invasive look- see

          4  of all the children and then determining who needs

          5  sealants, and then getting parental consent on as

          6  many as we can, and then providing sealants to them.

          7    We have, as you noted, --  We did not lay off

          8  anyone yet.  We intend to proceed with a furlough,

          9  as we have every summer, with a reduced schedule

         10  based on the Department of Education schedule.

         11                 I think it's very important to

         12  remember that this program serves about 21,000

         13  children and has about 36 part- time and full- time

         14  dentists in a City where there are 600,000

         15  elementary and middle school children and

         16  approximately 3,000 dentists who are enrolled in the

         17  Medicaid program.  So with our limited resources,

         18  we're never going to be able to serve the majority

         19  of the population.  What we need to do is make sure

         20  that we are an entryway into a dental home for

         21  children.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: The criticism

         23  of this body was that more individuals would

         24  patronize these services if they were aware of them,

         25  and we had talked about an outreach program.  Again,
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          2  this Committee criticized the layoffs and/or

          3  furloughs of any employees, particularly in the

          4  summer.  Lastly, I believe this Committee will be in

          5  conversations with OMB with respect to an initiative

          6  to support this program.  My criticism was that we

          7  should not limit our services to sealants and

          8  sealants only, and that we should provide a broad

          9  range of services to those in need.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         11  much.  At this point in time, seeing no other

         12  questions from my colleagues, I want to thank

         13  Commissioner Frieden for joining us here today and

         14  for your proactive approach towards ensuring good

         15  health and quality health in the City of New York

         16  and to the Agency and Department for being here.

         17                 COMMISSIONER FRIEDEN: Thank you very

         18  much for your support and your questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Before we have

         20  Health and Hospitals Corporation come up, I want to

         21  remind everyone who wants to testify on the public

         22  portion of our hearing to please sign in with the

         23  Sergeant- at- Arms in the back.  He has a sign- in

         24  sheet.  So if anyone's interested in testifying in

         25  the public components of this hearing, please see
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          2  the Sergeant-at-Arms in the back.

          3                 We'll take a five- minute break so

          4  that way people can do what they must do.  Then

          5  we'll have a five-minute break.

          6                 (Recess taken.)

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, we will be

          8  hearing from the President of the Health and

          9  Hospitals Corporation, Alan Aviles.  We will also be

         10  joined today by the Council Task Force on Hospital

         11  Closings chaired by my colleague, Council Member

         12  Helen Sears who will have a statement after my

         13  statements.

         14                 This Committee is well aware of the

         15  many challenges facing HHC, a $5 billion public

         16  enterprise that serves so many of the City's

         17  uninsured, as well as the general public.  We know

         18  that HHC provides $300 million dollars in

         19  uncompensated care each year and understand the

         20  financial strain that this puts on the corporation.

         21  We are also aware that an employer of 37,000 full

         22  time equivalent staff as a major purchaser of goods

         23  and services, HHC plays a vital role in the City's

         24  economy.

         25                 In addition, we note that with over
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          2  $1 billion dollars in City money dedicated to HHC

          3  each year, it is crucial that HHC maintain the

          4  highest standards of transparency and

          5  accountability.

          6                 Finally, this Committee was

          7  disappointed that the Mayor's Preliminary Budget

          8  included over $23 million dollars in cuts to vital

          9  HHC programs.

         10                 We look forward to working with HHC

         11  to meet these challenges as we continue in the

         12  budget process.  Now, at this point, before I

         13  introduce President Aviles, I'm going to invite my

         14  colleague and co-chair, Council Member Helen Sears,

         15  to make a brief opening statement.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chair, and good afternoon.  It's good to see you

         18  again.  Very briefly, I just wanted to say publicly

         19  how grateful we are to the Health and Hospital

         20  Corporation.  The time that Ms. Brown and Mr. Aviles

         21  have spent with the Hospital Task Force, it was a

         22  very arduous undertaking and it was borough by

         23  borough by borough.  Your testimony was extremely

         24  helpful in the reports that we turned out that were

         25  extremely well received and really helped us to look
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          2  at the direction of health care and how do we do

          3  that maintaining the resources that we have.

          4                 Our concern was that the Health and

          5  Hospital Corporation, even though they wouldn't be

          6  able to close and would look at the HHC in a rather

          7  damaging way, but they haven't.  They really

          8  haven't.  They truly recognize the remarkable work

          9  that you have done.

         10                 I want to congratulate you on

         11  Elmhurst being recognized for it's great

         12  accomplishments as the top hospital in the State of

         13  New York and I think that HHC deserves a wonderful,

         14  wonderful congratulations for that.

         15                 So I thank you.  Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: At this point in

         18  time, Mr. Aviles, you may proceed.

         19                 MR. AVILES: Good afternoon,

         20  Chairpersons Rivera and Sears, Members of the Health

         21  Committee and other distinguished Members of the New

         22  York City Council.  I'm Alan Aviles, President of

         23  New York City Health and Hospitals Corporation.  I'm

         24  joined today by our Chief Financial Officer, Marlene

         25  Zurack, to my left, and our Senior Vice President,
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          2  LaRay Brown, to my right.

          3                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          4  discuss the Fiscal Year 2008 Preliminary Budget and

          5  HHC's Financial Plan.

          6                 Before I discuss the Preliminary

          7  Budget and Financial Plan, I would like to share

          8  with you some of our achievements and some of what

          9  we expect to accomplish in the year ahead.

         10                 We can look back on the past year

         11  with considerable pride.  A great deal has been

         12  accomplished on many fronts.  As always, each of the

         13  HHC facilities can point to its own impressive

         14  accomplishments that reflect our long- standing

         15  tradition of responsiveness to local community need.

         16    I won't attempt to catalogue those many noteworthy

         17  initiatives because that would be a very long list,

         18  but let me mention one.

         19                 Last month, we formally opened the

         20  new World Trade Center Environmental Health Center

         21  at Bellevue.  This new center, which expands upon a

         22  joint Bellevue/NYU program established shortly after

         23  the events of 9/11, will evaluate and treat any New

         24  Yorker who suffers symptoms associated with exposure

         25  to the World Trade Center disaster of its aftermath.
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          2                 The new WTC Health Center, which has

          3  been funded by the City, arises from the

          4  collaborative work that Bellevue has done with the

          5  Beyond Ground Zero Coalition and other community-

          6  based organizations over the last couple of years.

          7  That partnership has thus far identified hundreds of

          8  patients, especially uninsured Lower Manhattan

          9  residents and immigrant day laborers, who suffer

         10  health consequences from their exposure to the fumes

         11  and/or dust of the WTC site, but who were ineligible

         12  to receive services from existing WTC- related

         13  evaluation and treatment programs funded by the

         14  federal government.  This coming year, the expanded

         15  new Center of Excellence will have more than double

         16  its prior capacity.

         17                 As this Bellevue initiative

         18  demonstrates, and there are many other comparable

         19  facility- specific examples from this past year, we

         20  often best meet the needs of our patients when we

         21  partner with other organizations with a common

         22  mission and deep roots in our communities.

         23                 As we strive to be fully competitive

         24  and become the health care provider of choice for

         25  all New Yorkers, our commitment to those without
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          2  insurance, to limited English speakers, low- income

          3  families and children and to communities in which

          4  residents suffer disproportionately from preventable

          5  and chronic illnesses remains steadfast.

          6                 One example of our commitment to

          7  preventive care is our ongoing extensive smoking

          8  cessation programs.  We have enrolled more than

          9  70,000 smokers over the course of the past four

         10  years and have distributed nicotine replacement

         11  therapy to greatly increase the odds of success.

         12  Last year, we helped thousands of our patients to

         13  quit smoking, and live healthier and longer lives.

         14                 Other prevention, screening and early

         15  detection efforts narrow the gap of ethnic and

         16  racial health care disparities.  Cervical, breast

         17  and colon cancer are three areas where death rates

         18  are higher for low- income patients of color,

         19  largely due to access barriers to early detection of

         20  these cancers. We continued to step up our cancer

         21  screening effort in each of these areas, performing

         22  more the 150,000 cervical cancer screenings and more

         23  than 80,000 mammograms.  And last year, we performed

         24  nearly three times the number of screening

         25  colonoscopies that we had provided just four years
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          2  ago.  As a result, we are diagnosing significantly

          3  more cancers at an earlier stage when treatment is

          4  more effective and prognosis much more helpful.

          5                 This year, we have the HPV vaccine

          6  available to adolescent girls and young women to

          7  lower their risk of cervical cancer, and we will

          8  launch a broad education and awareness campaign to

          9  get more patients vaccinated.

         10                 With funding support from the

         11  Council, we mounted a campaign to combat the disease

         12  with the greatest ethnic and racial disparate impact

         13  of all, AIDS and HIV infection.  Nearly 85 percent

         14  of the roughly 1,670 AIDS- related deaths in New

         15  York City during 2005 were among African- American

         16  and Hispanic New Yorkers.  Many of the communities

         17  served by our hospitals and health centers have HIV

         18  infection prevalence rates that are more than double

         19  the City average.

         20                 As you know, each of our hospitals is

         21  a designated AIDS center with significant expertise

         22  in the treatment of HIV infection and AIDS.  Last

         23  year, we expanded our HIV testing dramatically.  Our

         24  strategy was to increasingly adopt rapid testing

         25  methods and reach patients in a broad range of care

                                                            97

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  settings.  By the end of the year, through our

          3  facilities' staffs' innovative efforts, we tested

          4  more than 100,000 patients, a 65 percent increase

          5  above the year before.  We identified more than

          6  1,500 patients who are HIV positive and did not know

          7  it, and we linked those patients to care.

          8                 We will continue to normalize testing

          9  making it available to more patients as part of

         10  routine care, not just patients perceived to be at a

         11  high risk.  We will expand our testing efforts even

         12  further and expect to test at least 150,000 patients

         13  for HIV this year.  Our program will reach more

         14  outpatient clinics, connect with more adolescents,

         15  and focus on the growing population of HIV- infected

         16  seniors.  By reaching HIV- infected patients who

         17  would not otherwise be reached, we will get more

         18  individuals into care early when the disease can

         19  best be managed, and we will help reduce the

         20  transmission rate even as we lessen the stigma of

         21  HIV.

         22                 We continue to focus on the twin

         23  epidemics of asthma and diabetes with promising

         24  results.  Both diseases disproportionately affect

         25  African- American and Hispanic communities.  In some
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          2  communities more than eight percent of adults and

          3  more than 18 percent of children suffer from asthma.

          4    Asthma is the single greatest health- related

          5  cause for missed school days among New York City

          6  children.  The incidence of diabetes City- wide has

          7  more than doubled over the past ten years, and

          8  roughly eight percent of all New Yorkers have

          9  diabetes.  Diabetes remains the leading cause of

         10  kidney failure, adult blindness, and lower extremity

         11  amputation, and it is a prime contributor to heart

         12  disease and stroke.

         13                 This past year, we continued to use

         14  our clinical information technology to improve our

         15  care of asthmatic and diabetic patients.  By

         16  embedding asthma action plans in our electronic

         17  medical records and ensuring that we are prescribing

         18  the most appropriate medications for children with

         19  persistent asthma, we again reduced related

         20  emergency room visits and hospital admissions.  In

         21  fact, our asthma- related pediatric emergency visits

         22  declined by 24 percent and our hospital admissions

         23  dropped by 30 percent during the past two years.

         24                 Last year, we also leveraged the

         25  promising results of the work of our Queens Health
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          2  Network which piloted an electronic Diabetes

          3  Registry fed from our electronic medical record.

          4  Using the e- registry as a tool to focus attention

          5  on the diabetic patients who needed it most, both of

          6  our hospitals in Queens have demonstrated that over

          7  a 30- month period, they were able to more than

          8  double the number of their diabetic patients with

          9  well- controlled blood sugar levels.

         10                 We have now developed an electronic

         11  registry that is available over the HHC intranet at

         12  every one of our facilities.  We are tracking the

         13  health status of nearly 50,000 adult diabetics

         14  across our system, with the goal of replicating,

         15  over the next two years, the success demonstrated by

         16  Queens and Elmhurst Hospitals. By the end of 2008,

         17  we aim to double the number of our patients whose

         18  diabetes is well- controlled.  This would

         19  effectively mean bringing more than 10,000 diabetics

         20  under good control and lessening their risk of life-

         21  threatening complications.

         22                 We are using our electronic medical

         23  record to address another chronic disease, one that

         24  often impedes our efforts to engage patients in the

         25  management of their own care, depression. During the
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          2  past year, we embedded an evidence- based screening

          3  tool for depression into our EMR at every facility

          4  to help identify undiagnosed depression in our

          5  primary care settings.  We screened more than 20,000

          6  patients during the year, and were forced to

          7  confront the reality that the prevalence of

          8  depression among our patients outstrips the capacity

          9  of our outpatient mental health resources.

         10                 To better meet the treatment needs of

         11  our patients diagnosed with depression, we have

         12  undertaken, with the help of the City Department of

         13  Health and Mental Hygiene, a system- wide training

         14  effort to equip our primary care providers to treat

         15  mild and moderate depression in their patients.

         16  Over the course of the next year, we will treat more

         17  patients for depression than ever before, and many

         18  of these patients will be treated in our primary

         19  care clinics as we continue to take a more holistic

         20  clinical approach in that setting.

         21                 Increasing awareness to needed health

         22  care services for those who otherwise could not

         23  afford it is central to our mission.  Under the new

         24  State Charity Care Law that went into effect in

         25  January, hospitals are required to offer patients
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          2  with incomes up to 300 percent of the federal

          3  poverty level the opportunity to pay for services

          4  they receive based on a sliding fee scale.  Nearly

          5  two years ago, through its HHC Options Program, HHC

          6  raised its sliding fee scale to 400 percent of the

          7  partnered with community- based organizations to

          8  ensure that individuals in the communities we serve

          9  understand our reduced fee policies and are aware of

         10  our fundamental commitment to never turn a patient

         11  away because of inability to pay.

         12                 To improve access to health care on

         13  Staten Island, collaborating with a myriad of local

         14  organizations, Community Planning Board 1, the two

         15  hospitals and our elected officials, we provided

         16  financial and extensive staff support to establish a

         17  new community health center on the Island's North

         18  Shore.  The Community Health Center Richmond opened

         19  its doors on July 5th, and we are financing the

         20  expansion of its physical space to increase its

         21  capacity and range of primary care services for

         22  adults and children.  We have also funded a legal

         23  assistance program and a patient navigator service

         24  at the health center.  We are committed to ensuring

         25  the success of the health center's first site, as
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          2  well as its further expansion into other Staten

          3  Island communities.  A search is currently underway

          4  for the health center's second site.

          5                 In addition, we continue to work with

          6  health center's board of directors and executive

          7  director toward its designation as a federally

          8  qualified health center.  The FQHC look alike

          9  application was submitted to the Federal Department

         10  of Health and Human Services last Friday.

         11                 Meanwhile, we continue to support and

         12  fund a temporary means of providing additional

         13  affordable primary care capacity for uninsured low-

         14  income residents on Staten Island through the Staten

         15  Island Health Access Program, or SIHA.  More than

         16  2,500 Staten Island residents have participated in

         17  SIHA and participants receive HHC subsidized care

         18  from community- based physicians located on the

         19  North Shore.

         20                 To better fulfill our traditional

         21  role as the primary care safety net provider to the

         22  new immigrant communities of our City, we are

         23  strengthening our ability to provide culturally

         24  responsive services to our extraordinarily diverse

         25  spectrum of patients.  With the funding provided by
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          2  the City Council, we have expanded remote

          3  simultaneous translation service capability beyond

          4  its points of origin at Bellevue and Gouverneur to

          5  Kings County Hospital.  Later this year, we will

          6  expand it to the East New York Diagnostic and

          7  Treatment Center.

          8                 Last year, the raging immigration

          9  reform debate raised fears among many undocumented

         10  immigrants about their ability to safely access

         11  health care services.  With the help of our City's

         12  Commissioner of Immigrant Affairs, and free

         13  promotion from a wide range of ethnic media, we

         14  broadly communicated our strong and steadfast

         15  commitment to access and confidentiality for new

         16  immigrants.  We extended the message in 11 languages

         17  to let new New Yorkers know that our public

         18  hospitals welcomed them, would care for them, and

         19  would keep their personal information, including

         20  their immigration status, confidential.  City

         21  Council Speaker Christine Quinn joined us to

         22  persuade new immigrant families to secure a primary

         23  care home for their children at one of our

         24  community- based Child Health Centers, rather than

         25  endure the long waits and fragmented care of an
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          2  emergency room.

          3                 While our focus on cultural

          4  responsiveness is one prime example of patient-

          5  centered care, another is our ongoing work on

          6  ambulatory care redesign.  Our facilities ambulatory

          7  care redesign teams have dramatically reduced the

          8  time required for patients to complete a visit in

          9  our primary care clinics from an average of nearly

         10  two and one- half hours to a January 2007 average

         11  cycle time of 58 minutes.  We are now re-

         12  engineering our primary care appointment scheduling

         13  processes so that we can offer patients more timely

         14  appointments while simultaneously keeping the

         15  patients linked to their primary care providers.

         16                 With schedules appointment no- show

         17  rates averaging 30 percent or higher and large

         18  numbers of unscheduled walk- in patients, our

         19  present system is inefficient, stressful for

         20  patients and staff, and insufficiently conducive to

         21  the continuity of care essential to our efforts to

         22  increase patient engagement to achieve more

         23  effective management of chronic disease.

         24                 However, change is possible.  At our

         25  Queens Hospital Center Medicine Clinic and the Kings
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          2  County Pediatric Clinics, appointment templates have

          3  been reworked, clinics no longer resort to the

          4  automatic scheduling of patient re- visits far into

          5  the future, patients can access appointments when

          6  they need them, and, as a result, no- show rates

          7  have declined approximately 50 percent.

          8                 As we transform our system to be more

          9  efficient, effective and patient- centered, more

         10  patients are choosing to obtain their care at HHC

         11  facilities.  This past year, the total number of

         12  patients served by our outpatient clinics was up

         13  again for the fifth time in the last six years.  And

         14  for the first seven months of this fiscal year, the

         15  number of inpatient discharges across all of our

         16  acute care hospitals is up by more than four

         17  percent.  Assuming that trend continues, we will

         18  provide care to roughly an additional 8,000 in-

         19  patients this year.  At the present time, even with

         20  the addition of some 40 beds over the past two years

         21  to meet community need, our total system's in-

         22  patient occupancy rate is above 90 percent.

         23                 The transformation of our public

         24  hospitals was strikingly validated by the work of

         25  the Berger Commission as it targeted hospitals
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          2  across the City and State for closing and

          3  reconfiguration.  The Commission recommended not

          4  that our public hospitals shed beds, but rather that

          5  the State approve 40 additional beds for Queens

          6  Hospital Center.

          7                 We are not only transforming the way

          8  we are providing care, we are transforming our

          9  environments of care.  In addition, we are making

         10  investments in health information technology and

         11  cutting- edge medical equipment to link modern

         12  efficient space with the delivery of modern

         13  medicine.

         14                 Investments in infrastructure ensure

         15  that our public hospital system is positioned to

         16  serve future generations of New Yorkers.  This past

         17  year, we completed work on new ambulatory care

         18  pavilions at Kings County and Queens Hospital

         19  Centers.  We began or continued construction on

         20  several other major projects, including the new

         21  Harlem Hospital Center, the new Kings County

         22  Behavioral Health Care Center, the new Ambulatory

         23  Care Pavilion at Jacobi, and the expansion of the

         24  Emergency Department at Lincoln.

         25                 Our capital dollars have also been
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          2  invested beyond our acute care hospitals.  The

          3  planned modernization of the Gouverneur Diagnostic

          4  and Treatment Center and Skilled Nursing Facility

          5  has been approved and funded, and we are in the

          6  design phase of this important project.  We

          7  completed the construction of the impressive new

          8  home for our Bedford Stuyvesant Alcoholism Treatment

          9  Program, and we have upgraded the physical plants of

         10  some of our community- based health centers,

         11  including the Junction Boulevard Family Health

         12  Center in Queens.  We will soon complete the

         13  renovations to the new and expanded home for our

         14  Mariners Harbor Child Health Clinic in Staten

         15  Island.

         16                 As part of our commitment to earlier

         17  diagnosis and treatment of cardiovascular disease,

         18  we have continued to upgrade and increase the number

         19  of cardiac catheterization centers.  New units

         20  opened last year at Bellevue and Jacobi, and a Kings

         21  County unit will be completed later this year.  In

         22  all, we will have new or renovated cath labs at six

         23  hospitals.

         24                 With three new labor, delivery and

         25  recovery units, completed in 2006, at Coney Island,
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          2  Kings County and Lincoln Hospitals, all HHC

          3  hospitals can boast state- of- the- art maternity

          4  suites.  Nearly 22,000 babies were delivered across

          5  our system last year.  One facility, Woodhull

          6  Hospital, has experienced a remarkable 20 percent

          7  increase in deliveries over the last two years.

          8                 The Cancer Care Pavilion at Elmhurst

          9  Hospital is nearing completion.  We are grateful for

         10  the Council's financial support for this project.

         11  Another cancer care center is in development at

         12  Kings County Hospital for which $5 million dollars

         13  was generously provided by the City Council.  The

         14  design is now complete, and we anticipate awarding

         15  the construction contracts for this project later

         16  this spring.

         17                 In support of our corporate- wide

         18  initiative to improve family planning and other

         19  services for women, the Administration allocated $6

         20  million dollars for Women's Options Centers at

         21  Elmhurst Hospital Center, Lincoln Medical and Mental

         22  Health Center and Jacobi Medical Center.  The

         23  Elmhurst facility is anticipated to open this fall.

         24  The Lincoln facility will start construction this

         25  spring, and the Jacobi facility is in the design
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          2  phase.  Funding is needed for our next phase of

          3  Women's Options Centers, which are planned for Coney

          4  Island, Queens and Woodhull Hospitals.

          5                 Progress has been made towards the

          6  development of senior housing on the campus of the

          7  Sea View Hospital and Rehabilitation Center and Home

          8  on Staten Island.  We are entering into a long- term

          9  sublease with the Metropolitan Council on Jewish

         10  Poverty.  This project is the result of a collective

         11  effort among HPD, HHC and Council Member James Oddo.

         12                 As I reported last year, I have made

         13  patient safety one of our highest priorities.  I

         14  have challenged our organization to become one of

         15  the safest hospital systems in the nation by the end

         16  of this decade.  I remain absolutely convinced that

         17  we can achieve this daunting goal and our progress

         18  over the last year in the area of critical care has

         19  moved us towards that goal in a powerful way.

         20                 Hospital acquired infections in

         21  critical care units are among the most dangerous

         22  preventable events in acute care facilities.  Both

         23  ventilator associated pneumonia and central line

         24  associated bloodstream infections greatly increase

         25  the risk of death for fragile ICU patients.
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          2                 This past year, critical care teams

          3  from across our system continued to implement

          4  evidenced- based practices that reduce both types of

          5  infection and the majority of our hospitals went

          6  several months in a row without a case of ventilator

          7  associated pneumonia or a central line infection in

          8  their ICU's.  For example, there has been only one

          9  instance of hospital acquired pneumonia at

         10  Woodhull's ICU all year.  That one case broke a

         11  streak of 18 straight months without a single

         12  instance of ventilator associated pneumonia.

         13                 At Bellevue Hospital, which runs 40

         14  ICU beds, the medical ICU went all year without a

         15  single case of ventilator associated pneumonia and

         16  has now gone nine months and counting without a case

         17  of a central line bloodstream infection.

         18                 I can report excellent results on yet

         19  another patient safety front, surgical site

         20  infection prevention.  Our system as a whole

         21  continued to outperform national and state average

         22  scores for adherence to the federal quality

         23  indicators related to the prevention of surgical

         24  site infection.  Five of the top six scoring NYC-

         25  based hospitals in this category, according to the
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          2  State Department of Health, are HHC facilities.

          3  Therefore, it is no surprise that our clinicians

          4  from Lincoln and Bellevue Hospitals were featured in

          5  a training film produced by the Health Care

          6  Association of New York State on the prevention of

          7  surgical site infection.

          8                 All of our efforts to provide safer

          9  care, to better manage chronic disease, and to

         10  provide care that prevents or diagnoses disease at

         11  an early stage, confirm the commitment of HHC's

         12  staff at all levels, to our mission, and to our

         13  patients.

         14                 I provided an overview of the past

         15  year's accomplishments and a preview of some of what

         16  we expect to do in the coming year.  All is not

         17  rosy, of course, because we face significant budget

         18  challenges, and most dauntingly, on the federal

         19  level.

         20                 The January Financial Plan adds more

         21  than $1 billion dollars in Medicaid revenues in

         22  recognition of the federal government's approval of

         23  the State's DSH/UPL Medicaid payments to HHC for

         24  Fiscal Years 2007 and 2008.  However, due to

         25  proposed changes in federal regulations, these
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          2  supplemental Medicaid payments are at risk for

          3  future years, and accordingly are not reflected in

          4  the Plan.

          5                 In addition, the President has

          6  proposed the elimination of federal financial

          7  participation for graduate medical education in

          8  State Medicaid programs.  If this proposed change to

          9  funding for graduate medical education is enacted

         10  and the State passes down this loss to providers,

         11  this would result in a $200 million per year

         12  reduction in revenue to HHC's Financial Plan

         13  beginning in Federal Fiscal Year 2008.

         14                 Over the last ten years, as the State

         15  implemented mandatory Medicaid managed care, the

         16  federal government reduced rates for Medicare while

         17  imposing additional complex requirements. During the

         18  past fifteen years, the Medicaid clinic rate has

         19  remained the same and covers less and less of the

         20  costs of outpatient care.

         21                 Yet, because of our commitment to

         22  provide the services that will help most New Yorkers

         23  avoid heart disease, cancer, stroke and other

         24  debilitating and deadly conditions, we have

         25  continued to provide substantial preventative and
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          2  primary care, even as the task of supporting

          3  operations with patient revenue has become more

          4  difficult.

          5                 HHC has been able to do so by relying

          6  on supplemental Medicaid funding from the federal

          7  government and continued City support.  We will

          8  continue to do all we can to advocate against the

          9  proposed federal actions and to articulate a clear

         10  picture of how they would damage the health of our

         11  communities.

         12                 The State Executive Budget includes

         13  Governor Spitzer's Medicaid Reform Proposal.  From

         14  the perspective of our patients, the proposed

         15  strategy includes some very positive reforms.  It

         16  increases eligibility for Child Health Plus from 250

         17  percent of federal poverty to 400 percent and makes

         18  obtaining and maintaining Medicaid easier.  Also no

         19  new patient co- pays are proposed.

         20                 In the proposed State budget, there

         21  are cuts to hospitals, nursing homes, and managed

         22  care plans that eliminate inflation increases and

         23  cut funding for graduate medical education. These

         24  cuts, if enacted, would lead to a $94 million dollar

         25  reduction in revenues to HHC.  While significant,
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          2  this potential cut is a far cry from previous years'

          3  proposed cuts that ranged from $140 million to more

          4  than $300 million.

          5                 In addition, this year the Governor

          6  is proposing a change to the distribution

          7  methodology for several Medicaid pools that would

          8  help HHC and mitigate the proposed cuts to revenue.

          9  In a fundamental policy shift, the Governor proposes

         10  using Medicaid volume, not overall cost, as the

         11  driver for receipt of Medicaid dollars.  HHC would

         12  receive an additional $62 million dollars from this

         13  change in methodology.  We support this change as it

         14  benefits HHC's hospitals and other hospitals that

         15  serve a high proportion of Medicaid and uninsured

         16  patients and that do not have a large base of

         17  patients with commercial insurance to support their

         18  operations. The State has also committed to

         19  reforming the Medicaid program in ways that would

         20  bolster more effective primary and preventive care

         21  and better enable us to continue and expand upon

         22  many of the initiatives I have described to you

         23  today.

         24                 The Financial Plan also recognizes

         25  the scheduled prepayment in FY 2007 by the City to
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          2  HHC of $91 million dollars in FY 2008 general

          3  support.  Excluding the DSH/UPL payments and the

          4  City payment, the Corporation's revenue is actually

          5  projected to decline in FY 2008.

          6                 In addition, the Plan reflects

          7  significant increases in non- discretionary expenses

          8  in FY 2008.  Most noteworthy, pension costs are

          9  scheduled to increase by more than $50 million

         10  dollars in FY 2008 and health benefits are scheduled

         11  to increase by more than $25 million.

         12                 There are no new reductions to City

         13  funding to HHC in the Preliminary Budget for FY

         14  2008.  However, funding for several programs that

         15  were restored in last year's budget was not

         16  baselined.  As a result, HHC will receive $21.8

         17  million less in FY 2208 for the operation of the

         18  Child Health and Communicare clinics, behavioral

         19  health programs, HIV and TB programs, as well as the

         20  Pharmacy Fee Waiver program.  Specifically, $2.4

         21  million less for the provision of waivers of the $10

         22  dollar outpatient pharmacy fee; $6.2 million less

         23  for substance abuse, mental health and mental

         24  retardation/developmental disabilities programs;

         25  $12.2 million less for the operation of child health
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          2  clinics and Family Health/Communicare clinics; and

          3  $1 million less for HIV and TB services.

          4                 Funding has been added to FY 2008 for

          5  the following: The Mayor's Center Commission for

          6  Economic Opportunity endorsed the Nurse Career

          7  Ladder program at HHC which will train 60 RN's and

          8  40 LPN's per year, and this program has been funded

          9  with $1.1 million dollars in FY 2008; Bellevue has

         10  expanded it World Trade Center Program, as I

         11  mentioned, with additional funding of $3.4 million

         12  in FY 2008; and Medical Malpractice Legal Defense

         13  has been transferred from the Corporation Counsel to

         14  HHC and with it we have received transferred funding

         15  of $17.7 million in FY 2008.

         16                 HHC's Financial Plan for FY 2008

         17  anticipates $5.4 billion in expenditures and $5

         18  billion in baseline revenues. Therefore, the

         19  Corporation is facing an above- the- line gap of

         20  more than $430 million in FY 2008.

         21                 To address this gap, we must not only

         22  work with the City to identify sources of funds

         23  needed, but also make sure we get paid for all of

         24  the care we provide.  Consequently, our facilities

         25  will continue to focus on maximizing legitimate
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          2  third party payor collections.  We also must

          3  continue to implement programs to improve supply

          4  chain efficiency for pharmaceutical and med/surg

          5  procedures, improve linkages to community doctors,

          6  health center and other non- HHC providers, increase

          7  patient volume, settle outstanding retroactive rate

          8  appeals, continue to reduce malpractice costs,

          9  further regionalize services within HHC, and seek

         10  new revenue and expense reduction opportunities.

         11                 I also look forward to working with

         12  the Council to overcome these challenges, and to

         13  continue to moving aggressively toward the safe,

         14  efficient and patient- centered health care delivery

         15  system that our patients and New York City's

         16  communities need and deserve.  I hope you share my

         17  pride in what has been accomplished by our hard

         18  working and dedicated women and men who work in New

         19  York's public hospital system and my confidence in

         20  the achievements still to come.  This concludes my

         21  written testimony. I look forward to listening to

         22  your comments and answering your questions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         24  much.  Your testimony pretty much answered a lot of

         25  my questions.  I want to open it up to my
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          2  colleagues.  I know Council Member Helen Sears has a

          3  question for you and I believe Council Member

          4  Kendall Stewart will follow.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

          6  I'll just be very brief.  You mentioned the concerns

          7  about Medicaid and I don't know if you touched on

          8  it, I didn't hear it, with the new federal

          9  regulations in 2006, where you now have to provide

         10  documentation and also for the fact that you could

         11  sign a waiver that you  -- when it came to that.

         12                 MR. AVILES: Yes, that is a  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That is going

         14  to be a very substantial loss to you.

         15                 MR. AVILES: It's a challenge.

         16  Certainly, we are struggling with it.  HRA is being

         17  very helpful in trying to work with us to overcome

         18  that challenge, but it certainly is a challenge.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: It's a

         20  challenge, but it seems that if we look at that and

         21  look at some of the cuts you talked about,

         22  particularly with provisions on the waiver, the

         23  operation of Child Health Clinics.  We're talking

         24  about over $21 million, and if you take what I just

         25  talked about with the Medicaid, the gap is
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          2  substantial, very substantial, and it's seems to me

          3  that we should be looking at how  --  You know the

          4  federal government is great at doing all this stuff,

          5  but there isn't another corporation that exists like

          6  the HHC.  I don't know how we can begin to separate

          7  that from municipal hospitals around the country

          8  that are not the scope or the breath of what HHC is.

          9    Some may not even have a municipal hospital.  I

         10  think that the HHC is caught in the attitude of the

         11  Administration  --   I should say in Washington  --

         12  of what happens with municipal hospitals, but that

         13  doesn't fit the HHC. It's a very separate and unique

         14  entity.

         15                 MR. AVILES: And Council Member I want

         16  to thank you and the Speaker among others on the

         17  Council for being front and center, particularly, in

         18  connection with some of the federal challenges that

         19  we are facing.

         20                 As you know the proposed regulation

         21  that came out in January, if implemented in it's

         22  present form, would cost HHC about $350 million

         23  dollars in lost revenue.  You and the Speaker were

         24  there at the press conference with Congressman

         25  Rangel and others speaking out against that.  We

                                                            120

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  very much appreciate that support and advocacy.

          3                 We are very concerned, obviously,

          4  about the cuts we're facing at all levels, but the

          5  federal cuts really loom large because just two

          6  aspects of the proposed cuts in the President's

          7  Executive Budget both of which can be enacted

          8  without legislation because they're going to be done

          9  by Administrative regulation.  The one I just

         10  mentioned, and the cut to Medicaid GME together,

         11  would have a $550 million dollar annual negative

         12  impact on HHC and would devastate public hospitals

         13  across the country.  So obviously we are talking

         14  with our comrades in other public systems in other

         15  parts of the nation and we are seeking to galvanize

         16  our champions in Congress to ensure that those cuts

         17  don't happen.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Maybe, Mr.

         19  Chair, in your great style, might pull together the

         20  Congressional delegation for New York because this

         21  is devastating to HHC.  It may look that in some

         22  ways it's good for HHC, but overall  --  and what

         23  does it mean with those cuts?  That we absolutely

         24  will be cutting programs for the underprivileged and

         25  the poor and that is the mission of HHC and they've
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          2  done a remarkable job at doing that.  I think that

          3  we need to do all that we can to actually get them

          4  to realize and push that big foot forward.  You

          5  think we could do that?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Between you and

          7  I, I think we can.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I know you can

          9  pull them together, and the Chair and I think we

         10  need to that because, particularly, with this

         11  regulation, this law, in 2006  --  You know if you

         12  would just  --  I mean across the City, but if you

         13  were to take very high immigrant areas where we do

         14  have a problem with documentation it means that they

         15  would not be able to get it all into Medicaid even

         16  though the policy certainly is for HHC to treat

         17  everyone which means that those losses become ever

         18  greater at that point.  Am I correct on this, Ms.

         19  Brown?

         20                 MS. BROWN: Council Member, the rule

         21  that went in effect in 2006 very specifically

         22  requires documentation of birth certificate and

         23  identification for citizens.  So it's even more

         24  devastating in as much as there are many people who

         25  don't have their birth certificate and for whom
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          2  there is significant delay in the application

          3  process.

          4                 We would absolutely appreciate any

          5  communication with our delegation and moreover, with

          6  other federal representatives about that

          7  administrative rule as well as the two rules that

          8  are administrative changes that are proposed in the

          9  President's budget.

         10                 But the DRA, or Deficit Reduction Act

         11  Rule, which speaks to the requirement that anyone

         12  applying for Medicaid have birth certificates has

         13  resulted in significant delays in our inpatients who

         14  receive services obtaining Medicaid.  It does have a

         15  delay in revenue, but it's also just very

         16  devastating for people in as much as it requires

         17  onerous documentation for citizens who should be

         18  able to benefit from the programs that exist.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Has there been

         20  a rise in denied applications because of this?

         21                 MS. BROWN: My colleague can speak

         22  specifically to that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Have you seen a

         24  big increase?

         25                 MS. ZURACK: I actually will get you
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          2  the data specifically, after this meeting, but I

          3  would like to caution this group.  It does not

          4  effect immigrants, and I don't want people to get

          5  the misimpression because we have had people get the

          6  misimpression and then, therefore, people don't come

          7  in.  All patients should continue to come in.  We

          8  will continue to work with you on your documents and

          9  as Mr. Aviles said earlier, thanks to HRA, we've

         10  been able to keep this all going even though the

         11  pipeline is taking longer.  We will share you the

         12  specifics of that pipeline, but we just want

         13  patients to realize that we will continue to work

         14  with them and that there's nothing that they should

         15  be worried about from their perspective.

         16                 MS. BROWN: We are also working with

         17  New York City Immigration Coalition and other

         18  community- based organizations to make sure that the

         19  message is heard about this rule versus  --  the

         20  clarification in terms of this rule as well as just

         21  the message that people should continue to seek

         22  health care services.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well we do

         24  that.  On another note, and just very quickly.

         25  Actually it was my colleague Diana Reyna that was
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          2  asking it.  For the HPV, is there any connection

          3  with the community groups in order to the education

          4  program?  Prior to your testimony, Dr. Frieden was

          5  here, and I asked about that fact seeing exactly

          6  what was happening and how it was being distributed

          7  and the results.  One of the things is that we

          8  understand it's a series of three, and that from the

          9  second vaccine to the third vaccine, it's a spread

         10  of six months, and there's a substantial drop- off

         11  for that.  So the question is  --  We could use the

         12  community- based organizations for advocacy and

         13  education. Is that something that would be

         14  considered to do that?

         15                 MR. AVILES: Absolutely.  Obviously,

         16  our experience in the past with other public health-

         17  oriented campaigns like this is that it is extremely

         18  helpful to engage community- based organizations in

         19  getting the word out and raising awareness and with

         20  the education that needs to be done.  We're still in

         21  the process of figuring out how to compile the most

         22  effective campaign going forward, but that is

         23  absolutely part of the strategy for this year.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And how would

         25  you go about doing that?  Who would you be in touch
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          2   --  Would you be in touch with Council Members to

          3  find out what groups they may suggest?

          4                 MR. AVILES: We'd welcome any

          5  suggestions that Council Members have.  We obviously

          6  have longstanding relationships with many community-

          7  based organizations and to some extent we do look to

          8  our facilities who have strong ongoing relationships

          9  with their community- based organizations to add to

         10  that list.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay, that's

         12  very  --  Thank you.  Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you,

         14  Council Member.  Next we have Council Member Kendall

         15  Stewart.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair.  First of all, I want to say how pleased

         18  I am that we are already working on that initiative,

         19  the Career Ladder program.  For years we've been

         20  talking about trying to stem the problem of nurse

         21  shortage in New York City and I'm happy to see that

         22  we are taking some steps in doing.  I'll be glad to

         23  make sure that the funding is there.

         24                 But I have another question.  I have

         25  a question to do with diabetes.  You know we've been
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          2  saying that Central Brooklyn is the epicenter for

          3  diabetes and we go on, and on, and on, but I want to

          4  make sure that Kings County Hospital has enough

          5  funding to continue it's diabetic program.  Is that

          6  on your radar?

          7                 MR. AVILES: Absolutely.  I mean, as I

          8  eluded to in my prepared remarks, diabetes is going

          9  to be a central focus of our efforts, in terms of

         10  chronic disease, over the course of the next two

         11  years.  As you know, Council Member, Kings County

         12  has a new Diabetes Resource Center which I think

         13  will help in that effort significantly.  We are

         14  absolutely committed to providing sufficient funding

         15  so that each and every one of our facilities can try

         16  and replicate what we've managed to do up in our two

         17  Queens facilities which is to significantly improve

         18  the health status of a large proportion of our

         19  diabetic patients.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well I'm glad

         21  to hear that. Mr. Chair, I will be following up on

         22  this later on to see what happens in the budget

         23  because it's important that we keep these two

         24  initiatives in focus in that Central Brooklyn is not

         25  lost as far as diabetes is concerned, and we can at
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          2  least help the entire HHC system in terms of

          3  providing the nurses that are required.

          4                 MR. AVILES: And Council Member, I'll

          5  mention just one other thing and that is later this

          6  year, we will actually post publicly on our internet

          7  site the date that reflects the health status of our

          8  adult diabetics across the entire system by

          9  facility. We're doing that in order just to make

         10  clear that we are absolutely committed to making

         11  improvements in this area, and we're prepared to be

         12  held accountable for doing what we say we're going

         13  to do.  So it will be very easy for everyone to

         14  track the progress we're making starting in about

         15  July of this year.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         17  much, Council Member.  Next we have Council Member

         18  McMahon who has joined us, and I believe has a

         19  question as well.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: I got here

         21  just in time. Good afternoon, Mr. President, Ms.

         22  Brown and I forgot your name. I'm sorry.  Maybe

         23  that's better.  I hate to harp on a dead horse -

         24  No, beat a dead horse.  I'm mixing up my Irish

         25  sayings with everything else because of the season.
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          2  You know the issue that continues to perplex me is

          3  the Corporation's inequitable treatment of Staten

          4  Island.  In fact, one way to look at the budgeting I

          5  think that the Corporation does regarding Staten

          6  Island I think for every one dollar that the

          7  Corporation spends, one- half of one cent gets spent

          8  on Staten Island roughly.

          9                 We've gone back and forth on this,

         10  and I know you're aware of it, but I'm concerned

         11  that we're at a crisis level because, as you know,

         12  St. Vincent's, the Catholic Medical Center, sold the

         13  Staten Island's St. Vincent's property to Bayonne

         14  who created the Richmond University Medical Center.

         15  I'm just wondering --  And that's a facility that's

         16  financially strapped, as you know.

         17                 Meanwhile, the Berger Commission  --

         18  I mean the one place that the Berger Commission said

         19  that's underserved and probably needs more beds is

         20  Staten Island.  What do we do if St. Vincent's

         21  Richmond University Medical Center doesn't make it

         22  under this new configuration and closes?  What is

         23  HHC going to do?

         24                 MR. AVILES: Well we're not operating

         25  under the assumption that it's not going to make it
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          2  obviously, and I think the State Health Department

          3  understands the need for the existing facilities,

          4  the inpatient facilities, on Staten Island.

          5                 We are, however, very focused on the

          6  issue of ambulatory care and primary care capacity,

          7  as you know because you've been directly involved.

          8  We have made significant investments in the new

          9  Community Health Center of Richmond, in Port

         10  Richmond, and we are working to expand the capacity

         11  at that site, as well as to help them ultimately

         12  develop additional sites.  They are looking for a

         13  second site now.  So that we can have a federation,

         14  hopefully, of ultimately federally qualified health

         15  centers that add significant additional outpatient

         16  capacity for low- income residents of Staten Island.

         17                 At the same time, we have the Staten

         18  Island Health Access program, again, to which we've

         19  made a significant investment.  We have some 2,500

         20  Staten Islanders that have participated in that

         21  program that provides outpatient services, primary

         22  care as well as specialty care and prescription

         23  medications.

         24                 We have, as well, entered into

         25  contracts with both hospitals on the Island so that
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          2  Staten Islanders who need, for example,

          3  colonoscopies can go to those hospitals.  If they

          4  are uninsured, we will cover the cost of those

          5  procedures.  As I have said in the past, there is a

          6  compelling case to be made in terms of additional

          7  investments in the health care infrastructure on

          8  Staten Island particularly in light of the growing

          9  low- income and uninsured population of the North

         10  Shore.  We are working, on a number of different

         11  fronts to try and address that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And I

         13  appreciate it, and I know that you get it, and I

         14  know that Ms. Brown gets it and I know that the

         15  innocent party, who will not be named for the

         16  record, gets it as well, but we're  --  You know

         17  it's still the inequity is so enormous.  One thing

         18  we suggested is for you to look at the properties

         19  that St. Vincent's  --  the properties outside the

         20  hospital, the satellite properties if you will, and

         21  I know Ms. Brown knows, that we use for health care

         22  services to look at perhaps acquiring those.  Is

         23  that anywhere further along?

         24                 MR. AVILES: We have looked at each of

         25  those, and we actually had the Health Care Center of
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          2  Richmond look at them as well.  Their Board

          3  ultimately determined that several of those sites

          4  really were not suitable.  The ones that most lent

          5  themselves to this development were not suitable

          6  because of their location. I believe some of them

          7  are right in the shadow of Bailey Seton and it was

          8  felt that it would be better to locate a site that

          9  was not in such close proximity to a site where it

         10  is anticipated additional inventory care capacity

         11  will be built.

         12                 We've looked, as well, at a site on

         13  Jersey Street as a possible site to relocate the

         14  Stapleton Child Health Clinic and expand it.  The

         15  problem there is that apparently there was a flood

         16  and significant structural damage, and, at least at

         17  our last request, they were no longer permitting

         18  inspection of that property.  It was going to be

         19  auctioned solely on an as is basis. Generally we do

         20  not bid on property we have not had an opportunity

         21  to inspect.

         22                 We very much appreciate the fact that

         23  you brought these properties to our attention.  We

         24  are interested in looking at any other properties.

         25  We actually have Cushman Wakefield out in the field
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          2  looking for properties for us now.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I didn't

          4  understand why the one near Bailey Seton would be

          5  appropriate.  Bailey Seton is going to be shutdown

          6  as an ambulatory care center.

          7                 MS. ZURACK: If I may add, in

          8  addition, the Vanderbilt Avenue site, we are also

          9  looking at that as an alternative for an expanded

         10  Stapleton Child Health Site, just to add to that.

         11                 In addition, the two sites, the Baird

         12  Avenue and the Castleton, those are the two that are

         13  directly across the street from the Richmond

         14  University Medical Center.  It is our understanding,

         15  according to folks from the Richmond University

         16  Medical Center, that they intend to create

         17  additional ambulatory capacity off the campus as

         18  part of the  --  vis- a- vis the Bailey Seton.  They

         19  would want to create that as close the hospital.  So

         20  our Steering Committee for the health center, as you

         21  know, had identified other communities in the North

         22  Shore, St. George, for example, and some of the

         23  other communities and so they're looking first at

         24  those communities so as not to "compete with the

         25  Richmond University Medical Center".
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          2                 There is so much need that, as you

          3  know Council Member, we should not have the sites on

          4  top of one another because there's so much of a need

          5  in terms of a service need, but also the issues

          6  around transportation.  So that's why the Castleton

          7  and Baird we're not considered by the Community

          8  Health Center's Board to be optimal sites for their

          9  expansion.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: But if, the

         11  way that I understand it, and unless the City acts

         12  with the bankruptcy court, that property across from

         13  the hospital will be sold at public auction, and who

         14  knows it could be turned into a McDonald's or a

         15  Starbucks, and it will be lost as a health care

         16  asset which it is now.  I mean that was sort of the

         17  point that perhaps HHC could partner with the

         18  hospital there somehow.  If a City agency doesn't

         19  act, that property will be sold on the public

         20  market.  It will be lost.  There will be no

         21  expansion of ambulatory care there.  There will be

         22  no protection of that property.  RUMC's capabilities

         23  will be shrunken even more and it'll push it further

         24  and further, closer and closer, to the abyss if you

         25  will.
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          2                 MR. AVILES: Maybe it makes sense for

          3  us to follow- up with the Richmond University

          4  Medical Center people and be very clear on what

          5  their intentions are with regard to the adjacent

          6  space.  From our perspective, the judgement of the

          7  Health Center Board is not unreasonable if, in fact,

          8  there is an intent on the part of RUMC's  --

          9

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: The Richmond

         11  Health Center? You mean the FQHC look- alike?

         12                 MS. ZURACK: Well, yes.  There's  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: But that's

         14  not the  -- Every decision can't be made just on

         15  that one program.  I mean this is an asset for

         16  health care.  This is really my point.  To say that

         17  the great inequity that exists that we're going to

         18  solve that only by looking at the Richmond Health

         19  Care Center and maybe finding an expansion site.

         20  That's not going to do it.  You've got to partner

         21  with that private hospital to make sure that it

         22  survives.  If you don't, mark my words, if you

         23  don't, it will not make it.  It will shut down.  All

         24  the money that was supposed to come to it through

         25  this sale didn't come, they're operating on a shoe
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          2  string, and if they close, we're really going to be

          3  stuck.  You have an opportunity now to sit down with

          4  RUMC and say how can we partner with you in a bigger

          5  picture so that we can make sure that you survive,

          6  make sure that Staten Island gets at least some

          7  semblance of parity to the other boroughs in terms

          8  of health care and resources from the Corporation,

          9  and ultimately save the City money because if that

         10  hospital shuts down, you're going to have to go in

         11  and run the whole thing.

         12                 MR. AVILES: We are happy to sit down

         13  with RUMC and talk.  Absolutely.  The issue on that

         14  adjacent property was only the question of do you

         15  want to open up an ambulatory care site, if in fact

         16  there is an intent on adjacent property to create

         17  ambulatory care capacity.  In our experience, you

         18  generally don't want to open two ambulatory care

         19  centers adjacent to one another unless they truly

         20  are complimentary as opposed to competing with one

         21  another.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Certainly, I

         23  didn't intend to acquire it only to open an

         24  ambulatory care clinic.  There are other options as

         25  well.  You could purchase it and lease it back to
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          2  them.  You could be their partners in providing

          3  diagnostic services there and radiological services

          4  there.  Provide all those colonoscopies and

          5  mammograms that we're always doing by vans.  It

          6  could all be done there.

          7                 My point is this, and I'll end, Mr.

          8  Chairman, but, again, thinking that just doing the

          9  Richmond Health Clinic, that is going to do it, is

         10  not going to do it guys.  We've got to do much more.

         11    The Corporation owes it to Staten Island, and if

         12  we don't act quickly, one of two hospitals is going

         13  to be lost, and it's going to end up on your

         14  doorstep.  You're going to have to run the hospital

         15  or I don't know what, or the people of Staten Island

         16  are going to sue the City of New York and say hey

         17  wait a minute.  Every dollar you spend, one- half of

         18  one cent gets spent on Staten Island with six

         19  percent of the population.  How can that be fair?

         20                 MR. AVILES: Point taken.  We will

         21  set- up a meeting with the new medical center and

         22  see what might be possible in terms of

         23  collaboration.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         25  much, Council Member.  I guess I'll conclude the

                                                            137

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  line of questioning just with a follow- up on the

          3  TEMIS and the Rapid Testing.  Last year, the City

          4  Council restored $1 million for the Simultaneous

          5  Translation System.  Can you update us on the

          6  progress HHC has made with this initiative?  What

          7  HHC facilities are using the TEMIS program and where

          8  do you hope to expand?

          9                 MR. AVILES: We now have expanded the

         10  TEMIS to include 24 or 25 interpreters.  We're

         11  covering eight different languages.  We've been able

         12  to bring on board Kings County Hospital Center.  We

         13  are working now on finishing the wiring and hardware

         14  support that East New York Diagnostic and Treatment

         15  Center expect that they will be online by sometime

         16  this summer, and we would love to expand it further.

         17    I mean, obviously, doing so requires that we add

         18  additional resources to the Call Center.  We do have

         19  space in the Call Center for up to an additional ten

         20  interpreters.  We designed it to permit some further

         21  expansion, and we certainly have facilities

         22  including Lincoln, Elmhurst and Queens Hospital who

         23  are all clamoring to have access to that system.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Fantastic.  Thank

         25  you very much. Seeing no other questions, on behalf
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          2  of my colleagues, I thank you, once again, for

          3  joining us here today, and look forward to working

          4  together with you in the future.

          5                 We're going to take a five- minute

          6  recess.  I ask that anyone who wants to provide

          7  testimony during the public stage, please sign- up

          8  with the Sergeant- at- Arms in the back.  Provide

          9  your name and information, and we'll start the

         10  public portion of our hearing in about five minutes.

         11                 Ladies and gentlemen, good afternoon.

         12    Again, my name is Joel Rivera, Council Member and

         13  Chair of the Health Committee.  At this point in

         14  time, we are going to start the public portion of

         15  our hearing for today and the first panel will be

         16  representatives from DC 37, Moira Dolan, Ralph

         17  Palladino, Judith Arroyo and Chris Watson.

         18                 Again, we are going to be adhering to

         19  the three minute clock rule.  So, ladies and

         20  gentlemen, please format your testimony to fall with

         21  the three- minute allotted time frame.  Thank you.

         22  You may begin.

         23                 MS. DOLAN: Good afternoon.  My name

         24  is Moira Dolan, Assistant Director, DC 37 AFSCME.

         25  I'm here on behalf of Lillian Roberts, our Executive
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          2  Director to support the requests of the Health and

          3  Hospitals Corporation for the restoration of $21.7

          4  million in City Council funded programs.  These

          5  programs are critical to our members and they

          6  provide public health services to patients in our

          7  communities.  Some of the programs will be described

          8  by my colleagues so I will only highlight a few.

          9                 $6.1 million for mental health and

         10  substance abuse programs; Local 768 of DC 37

         11  represents over 450 social workers, over 100

         12  rehabilitation counselors and Local 371, Social

         13  Service Employees Union of DC 37, represents over

         14  250 addiction treatment counselors and peer

         15  counselors.  All of these members work with patients

         16  who are suffering from the problems associated with

         17  mental illness and addiction.  The outpatient

         18  treatment they provide is a cost effective method of

         19  working with these clients who need services and do

         20  not want or need to be hospitalized.

         21                 President Aviles, earlier I spoke on

         22  the early identification of depression and mental

         23  illness, and we need to continue these efforts.

         24                 One factor in the State's very high

         25  Medicaid spending rate is that we cover mental
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          2  health services.  Even with Medicaid funding, we

          3  still need the supplemental City Council programs to

          4  pay for these special high need services.

          5                 Another program I'd like to talk

          6  about is the Rapid HIV Testing Program at $5.2

          7  million.  The first line health providers in HHC,

          8  including social workers, work with the high- risk

          9  populations in clinics and neighborhood family care

         10  centers in every neighborhood in the City to insure

         11  that patients have easy, safe and confidential

         12  access to testing, counseling and treatment. This is

         13  another area that President Aviles highlighted as a

         14  successful area for HHC.

         15                 Tuberculosis, according to the New

         16  York City Department of Health data, although we are

         17  at an all time low for TB cases, we still have an

         18  infection rate two and a half times higher than the

         19  rest of the United States.  We're close, but not

         20  there yet, and this is no time to let up.  Our

         21  social workers, physician assistants and skilled

         22  health providers need to continue to observe and

         23  treat these patients.  The amount of restoration

         24  requested in $714,000.

         25                 There is tremendous change coming to
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          2  the health care system in the next few years.  Our

          3  members in HHC have been part of preparing HHC for

          4   --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: You want to start

          6  wrapping up.

          7                 MS. DOLAN: Time?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Yes.

          9                 MS. DOLAN: Okay.

         10                 MR. PALLADINO: Good day.  Local 1549

         11  represents over 18,000 clerical and administrative

         12  employees working for the City of New York, 5,500 of

         13  whom work for HHC, DOH and now, thanks to our

         14  organizing efforts, employees in HHC Metro Plus HMO.

         15    Our members perform financial counseling and

         16  billing functions at HHC and are enrollment sales

         17  representatives who sign up people for Medicaid in

         18  Metro Plus.  We also represent employees in Human

         19  Resources Administration including Eligibility

         20  Specialists 2 and 3 who determine Medicaid

         21  eligibility.

         22                 We call on the City Council to

         23  restore proposed cuts to the health budget.  Cuts to

         24  programs such as interpreter services in the TEMIS

         25  program are not good public policy.  TEMIS is a
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          2  reliable back- up system needed to keep HHC ahead of

          3  other hospitals in providing multi- lingual

          4  services.  If anything we need more client navigator

          5  title employees who perform the one- to- one

          6  interpreter service that is needed to improve

          7  service.

          8                 Health care reform is looming large

          9  now.  We should be looking to increase the number of

         10  employees performing financial counseling,

         11  registering patients for health insurance and

         12  determining Medicaid eligibility, not freezing or

         13  cutting budgets.              We should not be

         14  cutting any services while entertaining proposals

         15  for ending taxes on luxury clothing and lowering the

         16  tax rate for individuals that benefit the rich only.

         17  We should all support the Governor's plan to cut

         18  corporate loopholes in order to raise revenues that

         19  can be used to enhance services such as health care.

         20    They did it in New Jersey, a billion dollars, and

         21  the companies did not leave New Jersey when they

         22  closed those loopholes.

         23                 Our union has the slogan members

         24  first.  In hospitals we say patients first.  It's in

         25  this spirit that we support the general thrust of
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          2  the Governor's Medicaid budget and health proposals.

          3                 We call on the City Council to do

          4  likewise.  While we differ with the Governor on some

          5  of his budgetary proposals, we support his

          6  channeling Medicaid money to those who service

          7  Medicaid patients the most that would be the public

          8  health system.

          9                 The HHC public health system has

         10  proven to be the least costly and most efficient

         11  health care delivery system.  This public health

         12  system needs to be shielded from cuts and receive

         13  the support to have its services enhanced and

         14  expanded.

         15                 We can see the evils of private, for-

         16  profit health care systems by looking at what

         17  happened with the Walter Reed VA Hospital.  When the

         18  bottom line is for- profit then patients and workers

         19  suffer.

         20                 We agree with the New York Times

         21  editorial today when they said that money can be

         22  found in government budgets for health care.  The

         23  waste of dollars spent on the war in Iraq in

         24  overpayments to private for- profit insurance

         25  companies can pay for a truly universal public
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          2  health system.  The same can be said for John

          3  Edwards' proposal to restore President Bush's tax

          4  cuts on those making over $200,000 dollars a year to

          5  pay for universal health insurance.

          6                 So we call on the City Council to

          7  support public health.  Any funding that is needed

          8  needs to come from fairer taxation.  The real bottom

          9  line needs to be patients first, and with that I

         10  just want to offer any follow- up meetings that we

         11  need to have to go over any of the things I brought

         12  up including our titles and what they do and how we

         13  can serve.  We are open to it. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         15  much sir.  Next.

         16                 MS. ARROYO: Good afternoon Chairman

         17  Rivera and the rest of the City Council.  I am

         18  Judith Arroyo.  I'm the President of Local 436 of

         19  AFSCME.  We represent the public health nurses and

         20  epidemiologist who work for the City of New York.

         21                 This Local has testified before this

         22  City Council year after year over the budget dance.

         23  Our positions are well documented all over the

         24  place.  The restoration of money towards the Child

         25  Health Clinics, restoration of money for the school
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          2  health nurses  --  Most people don't realize that

          3  three- quarters of your nurses in your public school

          4  system are our members.  They're public health

          5  nurses.  The asthma initiative needs to be re-

          6  funded.        I just want to take a few minutes

          7  here to address a few issues that came out in the

          8  testimony that I was hearing.  One of the things

          9  that you all heard that was running through both HHC

         10  and Department of Health testimony was the problem

         11  with nurse recruitment.  You have a nursing shortage

         12  out there.  Part of the problem within the

         13  Department of Health for you to get more nurses,

         14  especially into your public school system, is that

         15  their salary and their benefits must be looked at in

         16  comparison to what is out there in the competitive

         17  market.  A new graduate coming out of school as a

         18  licensed professional registered nurse can start at

         19  $80,000 dollars.  A public health nurse taking care

         20  of your child in the public school coming in with

         21  ten years of experience can barely start at $45,000.

         22    You will not get nurses unless you address the

         23  salary and the benefits and the inequality that

         24  there is out there. There is a lot of competition

         25  for the title called licensed professional
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          2  registered nurse.  Both HHC and the Department of

          3  Health and Mental Hygiene must address that issue,

          4  and every time we sit down and negotiate with the

          5  City, we're told it's a budget issue.  We go around

          6  this dance.

          7                 The second thing that concerns me

          8  about the remarks that came of Commissioner Frieden

          9  is this intra- City transfer with the Department of

         10  Education for School Health Services.  The

         11  Department of Education is in the business of

         12  educating.  They are not in the business of doing

         13  public health services.  Already they started a

         14  preliminary program in which they want to put the

         15  School Health Program, the Department of Health and

         16  the School Health Program of the Board of Education

         17  together and they've made some of those integration

         18  moves already, but those moves have already impacted

         19  negatively on the Department of Health Public Health

         20  Service side.  The rule over at the DOE is one nurse

         21  for every building.  So that means if you've got a

         22  building that has got an elementary school, a junior

         23  high school, a high school and then a District 75,

         24  children in wheelchairs, they only want one nurse.

         25                 We don't think the money should be
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          2  going to the Board of Education.  It should stay in

          3  the Department of Health. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

          5                 MR. WATSON: Good afternoon.  My name

          6  is Christopher Watson and I'm here on behalf of

          7  President Carmen Charles of Local 420, District

          8  Council 37.  She apologizes for her absence today,

          9  but wishes me to tell you the following.  Our Local

         10  represents 10,000 members who work in entry- level

         11  and skill- type of agency. We look like we serve in

         12  that most of our members are immigrants and

         13  minorities.  We are proud of the work we do with HHC

         14  in quality control and safety initiatives.

         15                 We recently attended a briefing on

         16  cooperation- wide training that will take place for

         17  all staff on safety and infection control.  The

         18  trainer stated that in terms of infection control

         19  the housekeeping staff, our members, are the most

         20  important people in reducing the rate of infection.

         21  This is because he or she travels from room to room

         22  and touches many surfaces.  We are proud that our

         23  hospitals earn the top ten ratings for prevention of

         24  surgical- site infections, and we are working

         25  together to do even better this year.
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          2                 We are in support of the request for

          3  restorations for the programs funded by the City

          4  Council.  These programs provide critical services

          5  to our communities.  We are encouraged by some

          6  aspects of the proposed State budget proposal and

          7  concerned about others.  We look forward to HHC and

          8  our members receiving proper credit and funding for

          9  the care of Medicaid patients and the uninsured.  We

         10  ask you to work with us to protect HHC from the

         11  drastic federal cuts that are proposed as well as

         12  some aspects of the State proposals such as freezing

         13  the trend factor.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         15  much.  At this point in time there are no questions.

         16    We agree with a good portion of everything that

         17  you stated and we look forward to working with you

         18  in the future.  I don't know if my colleague,

         19  Council Member Stewart, if you have any questions?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: No.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         22  much.  The next panel will consist of Esther W. Lok

         23  from the Federation of Protestant Welfare Agencies,

         24  also Anthony Feliciano, Commission on Public Health

         25  and Luisa Sanchez from the Citizens Committee for
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          2  Children, who is a familiar face in this body.

          3  Again, we do have the three- minute clock.  Just

          4  identify yourselves for the record and you may

          5  proceed with your testimony.  Whoever chooses to

          6  begin, you may.  Just press the button in the

          7  middle.

          8                 MS. LOK: Can you hear me? Good

          9  afternoon.  My name is Esther Lok.  I am the

         10  Assistant Director of Policy Advocacy and Research

         11  and Senior Policy Analyst for HIV and AIDS at the

         12  Federation of Protestant Welfare Agencies.  On

         13  behalf of our alliance for more than 300 human

         14  service agencies and churches, I appreciate the

         15  opportunity to testify before you today.

         16                 For 85 years at FPWA has promoted a

         17  social and economic well- being of New York's most

         18  vulnerable by strengthening human services

         19  organizations and advocating for just public policy.

         20  Today I would like to present you our budget

         21  priorities in the area of health with a focus on

         22  services related to HIV and AIDS.  More than 55

         23  agencies of FPWA currently provide vital HIV and

         24  AIDS services and our member agencies want to take

         25  this opportunity the thank the City Council,
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          2  particularly members of the Health Committee, for

          3  it's ongoing support in preserving and promoting all

          4  these services.

          5                 FPWA is pleased to learn that

          6  increasing voluntary HIV testing is a priority of

          7  the Mayor.  We would like to recommend the Mayor,

          8  the City Council and Speaker to provide resources

          9  for community- based organizations that provide HIV

         10  and AIDS services, as well as health clinics, to

         11  incorporate HIV testing into their existing

         12  programs.

         13                 In addition to that, we would like to

         14  recommend  -- We have prepared three budget

         15  recommendations for you today.  First of all, FPWA

         16  urges the City Council to continue supporting the

         17  Communities of Color HIV and AIDS Initiative.  These

         18  funds help to enhance the capacity of existing

         19  services and also develop new program initiatives.

         20  FPWA urges the City Council to keep it's commitment

         21  to address the disproportionate impact of HIV and

         22  AIDS in communities of color by providing sufficient

         23  financial support to sustain all these services.

         24                 Second, we ask for your support in

         25  preserving and enhancing resources to provide
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          2  comprehensive legal and supportive services for

          3  people living with HIV and AIDS.  As a major

          4  component of comprehensive support services, legal

          5  resources are essential in addressing the disparity

          6  of needs of people living with HIV and AIDS and to

          7  eliminate barriers that prevent them from accessing

          8  care and treatment.

          9                 The third recommendation is that we

         10  ask the City Council to allocate $500,000 dollars to

         11  develop an HIV Prevention and Health Literacy

         12  Education Initiative that focuses on the older adult

         13  population.  The 2005 epidemiology report from the

         14  City Department of Health shows that 30 percent of

         15  persons living with HIV and AIDS in New York City

         16  were people age 50 or above.  We see this population

         17  growing, and we ask for your leadership to take this

         18  bold step and to address issues related to HIV and

         19  AIDS in the context of aging.

         20                 FPWA urges the City Council to

         21  support the collaborative effort between aging and

         22  HIV and AIDS service providers in developing a

         23  replicable model that may also benefit older adults

         24  in other cities.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. LOK: Thank you.

          3                 MS. SANCHEZ: Good afternoon.  My name

          4  is Luisa Sanchez and I am the Senior Policy

          5  Associate for Health and Mental Health at Citizens

          6  Committee for Children, CCC.  CCC is an independent

          7  child advocacy organization.  We don't provide

          8  direct services and we don't solicit government

          9  funds.  Thank you for this opportunity to testify.

         10  I am going to be very brief.

         11                 The budget looks pretty good.  It

         12  adds funding for different initiatives including,

         13  among others, a $2.2 billion dollars in four years

         14  for education aiding also funds at child health tax

         15  credit, but there are things that it does not fund.

         16                 For example, there's a $44 million

         17  gap in childcare services and in terms of health it

         18  doesn't restore funding for very important child

         19  health initiatives and people have already discussed

         20  those during the day today so I'm not going to list

         21  them, but they are very important to us and we urge

         22  you to restore them.

         23                 Also, and just to end, there is a

         24  significant surplus being rolled over into next

         25  year, $3.9 billion dollars, and CCC hopes that the
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          2  City Council will work with the Mayor to ensure that

          3  the cuts are restored and also to begin to chart a

          4  course with new initiatives that would work towards

          5  securing every child's birthright to be healthy,

          6  housed, educated and safe.  Those are big words.  To

          7  this end, we urge you to work together with the

          8  Mayor to authorize legislation, to get Albany to

          9  authorize legislation to create the child care tax

         10  credit, to create a renter's tax credit, expand the

         11  local Newborn Home Visiting Program to areas in

         12  certain areas of Queens that are not receiving

         13  services now, also to work with the Mayor to ensure

         14  that all New York City residents have access to

         15  healthy and affordable food.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

         17                 MR. FELICIANO: Good afternoon.  My

         18  name is Anthony Feliciano and I work for the

         19  Commission on the Public's Health System and we are

         20  a City- wide health advocacy organization.

         21                 Let me first start with  --  In the

         22  City Council Speaker Quinn's State of the City

         23  Address she proposed that we create ten state- of-

         24  the- art health care facilities in high- need

         25  communities over the next five years.  This was very
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          2  welcoming news because hospitals are closing and not

          3  thinking about providing services in those high-

          4  need communities.  We know that the Speaker is going

          5  to make sure that communities are involved in the

          6  planning of primary care facilities.  She will

          7  ensure that they are financially and geographically

          8  accessible and that the service will be culturally

          9  and linguistically competent in our neighborhoods

         10  they serve.  This is an exciting development.

         11                 However, in the Mayor's proposed

         12  public health budget, unfortunately, we cannot be so

         13  positive.  It's interesting to note that the Mayor

         14  went to Washington to give a special speech on

         15  February 12th at the Academy of National Health

         16  Policy Conference and talked about the importance of

         17  funding preventive services, but if you look at the

         18  proposed budget, you see a disconnect.  Many of the

         19  programs that the Mayor and the Health Commissioner,

         20  Tom Frieden, are proposing are cuts to those really

         21  important preventive services.  So we guess we

         22  should ask the Mayor to put the money where his talk

         23  is.

         24                 The Mayor did not agree to baseline

         25  the City Council public health funding.  He did
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          2  agree to baseline cultural parks and library

          3  priorities which we think are very important, but,

          4  once again, we're back to this budget dance when it

          5  comes to public health priorities.

          6                 We're looking to restore to the

          7  budget every year some of these items.  First, the

          8  Child Health Clinics, $6 million; 29 remaining child

          9  health clinics are critical and small community

         10  based services that provide preventive and primary

         11  care.  Children need periodic check- ups and to

         12  ensure that they are growing up healthy to catch

         13  problems early.  The child clinics are an important

         14  way of providing these services in local

         15  communities. They have been serving our communities

         16  since 1908 providing primary care as I stated and

         17  the wait for appointments and the waiting time are

         18  very minimal.  So we think they are very important.

         19                 The other initiatives are the Infant

         20  Mortality Prevention of $5 million.  The City

         21  Council has funded and increased funding for

         22  community- based organizations in targeted

         23  communities that do outreach, education, advocacy

         24  and provide supportive services to pregnant and

         25  parenting at- risk women and their families.  In
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          2  2005, the City infant mortality rate has dropped to

          3  six deaths per thousand live births, but the rate is

          4  still high, extraordinarily high in Bedford, 11.6;

          5  in Brownsville, 9.1 in Brooklyn and in Jamaica, 10.0

          6  in Queens.  The primary preventive is to ensure that

          7  pregnant women receive services that they need so

          8  much and they need to be in terms of low- birth

          9  weight and the infant does not die before it's first

         10  birthday.

         11                 One of things that is so important to

         12  us with the infant mortality is that they are

         13  targeted by community- based organizations and we

         14  believe that's very important.

         15                 The other items are through the HHC,

         16  the Outpatient Medication Waivers, which is $2.4

         17  million.  The Health and Hospitals Corporation

         18  charges uninsured patients a $10 dollar fee for

         19  medication up to a maximum of $40 a visit.  This

         20  funding allows patients who cannot pay for the

         21  medication to get a waiver of the fee and obtain

         22  their medicine without paying.  The amount for the

         23  special program should actually be increased.  It is

         24  clearly preventive to send someone home after a

         25  medical visit with their medication to ensure that
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          2  they follow doctor's orders.  Think about diabetics

          3  who needs insulin, or a person with high blood

          4  pressure who cannot afford pills to control their

          5  pressure.

          6                 The other items, HHC Translation

          7  Services, what you mentioned before, TEMIS, $1

          8  million.  The Health and Hospitals Corporation

          9  developed a simultaneous translation interpretation

         10  system, most like the United Nations, to help

         11  patients whose primary language in not English.  If

         12  there is no communication between the health care

         13  staff and the patient is can lead to, and has lead

         14  to, miscommunication and ability, and we've known

         15  this over the years.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: If you could wrap

         17  up.

         18                 MR. FELICIANO: The last piece is

         19  asthma.  A lot of folks haven't been talking about

         20  this.  We're looking at new initiatives in terms of

         21  providing funding for community coalitions in

         22  targeted communities around asthma and to look at

         23  the triggers. Let alone just hospitalization rates,

         24  to look at that, is not enough and the fact that

         25  medication has gotten better is not looking at the
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          2  root causes of why asthma is so high in our

          3  communities particularly low- income communities of

          4  color.

          5                 These are the areas we're looking for

          6  restoration and a new initiative around asthma.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          9  much.  No questions?  Thank you very much.  The next

         10  panel will consist of Wilbur Weder and Joann Casado,

         11  and, again, we're going to be adhering to the three-

         12  minute clock.  Just for the record, if you cannot

         13  give all your testimony within the three minutes,

         14  your hard copies suffice for the record as well.

         15  You may begin.

         16                 MR. PORRO: Mr. Chairman, Joel Rivera,

         17  and the Health Committee, good day to you.  My name

         18  is Daniel Porro and I live in the Bronx.  I am also

         19  a consumer that uses the health system, Jacobi

         20  Hospital.  I do want to say that I want to remind

         21  you that the Borough of the Bronx is the most

         22  poorest county in the New York area and that's due

         23  to services because of the people that we're trying

         24  to give service to. As a person with a disability,

         25  and as a person who is also poor, and advocate for
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          2  the disabled, I find myself navigating this system

          3  it seems to be the hardest thing to do in the

          4  Borough of the Bronx.  So I do appreciate that you

          5  take note to that.

          6                 I want to remind you that asthma,

          7  HIV, these are the things that effect us throughout

          8  the City.  The waiver is very important.  I bring to

          9  you just information that I know, children's health

         10  care clinics need to get more money.  Infant

         11  Mortality Prevention programs need to be out there

         12  in these communities and the waiver  --  I was in

         13  the hospital just last week, at Jacobi, and I was

         14  there for six hours and I seemed to be the only one

         15  that knows how to use the waiver.  The information

         16  is not out there for the community to see.  There is

         17  language, there is a barrier there. There is also

         18  the ability that is not clear for the community to

         19  know what the waiver is and who is entitled to that.

         20                 So, you know, I like to work with

         21  you, and I think it's important that you know that I

         22  am your eyes and your ears in your own borough.  You

         23  know, I hear what's going on and I also see it.

         24  This needs to be corrected.  Please restore this

         25  money that effects all people and all New Yorkers as
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          2  well as those that don't understand the language at

          3  all.  So thank you.

          4                 MR. WEDER: Good afternoon, Chairman

          5  Rivera and Council Members.  My name is Wilbur A.

          6  Weder and I am testifying on behalf of the Bellevue

          7  Hospital Center Community Advisory Board. I have the

          8  little piece here on the federal government.  I

          9  think the only point I want to emphasize, that I

         10  don't think I can do this in three minutes, is that

         11  we need to look at what CMS is doing.  The

         12  regulatory changes don't go through any

         13  congressional review so we need to make that we do

         14  what we can to stop the proposal by CMS that would

         15  cost HHC $350 million dollars.  That's a part of

         16  that $550 that was mentioned earlier by President

         17  Aviles of the federal legislation impact as well.

         18  Of that total package, $57 million dollars, or over

         19  ten percent, would be taken out of Bellevue's budget

         20  for FY 2008.  We can't let that happen.

         21                 At the State level, Governor

         22  Spitzer's proposed Medicaid reforms that will put

         23  patients first by making it easier for uninsured

         24  people who are eligible to apply for Medicaid, makes

         25  it easier for those on Medicaid to be recertified,
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          2  expands coverage for uninsured children, and has not

          3  cuts to benefits or increases in co- pays.  We

          4  strongly support the effort that the Governor is

          5  making to reform Medicaid, and even though there is

          6  a slight negative impact on HHC, we would like to

          7  see his reforms move forward.

          8                 However, I would like to more

          9  directly speak to what the City Council and the

         10  budget is that we're here really to talk about.  We

         11  would like to see the Mayor's budget proposals in

         12  the future to include the HHC funding that is needed

         13  particularly for the following items and since we're

         14  doing the budget dance this year, I'll very quickly

         15  go through the restorations and funding we would

         16  like.

         17                 One, restore $5.0 million in funding

         18  for our Child Health Clinics and the $5.0 million,

         19  additionally, that is needed for the Communicare

         20  sites.  Child Health Clinics are our front line

         21  defense for the prevention and treatment of illness

         22  in our children.  We must be able to diagnose and

         23  treat their illnesses before they become life

         24  threatening.  We can only do this if there are Child

         25  Health Clinics that are accessible and open when
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          2  needed.

          3                 Provide $2.4 million in funding for

          4  HHC waivers for outpatient pharmacies; restore $1.0

          5  million for translation services.  This is TEMIS

          6  again and add an additional $1 million to ensure

          7  patients who cannot speak English or have limited

          8  English proficiency will be able to communicate

          9  effectively with their doctors and nurses.  This

         10  funding is especially critical because a new State

         11  law went into effect on January 1, 2007 requiring

         12  translation services be provided to all who need

         13  them including those with vision and/or hearing

         14  problems.  We cannot do it without TEMIS.

         15                 Restore $1.6 million for adolescent

         16  substance clinics; restore $1.2 million for mental

         17  health treatment for children under five years of

         18  age.  These are very young patients, and we do treat

         19  a good many of them at Bellevue.  We have a very

         20  large psychiatric ward at Bellevue, as you may know,

         21  over 300 beds and that's where I'll end.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 MR. LEDERER: Good afternoon.  My name

         25  is Bob Lederer.  I'm a Researcher and Policy Analyst
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          2  at the Bronx Health Link and I'm speaking on behalf

          3  of our Executive Director, Joann Casado.

          4                 The Bronx Health Link is a

          5  clearinghouse for members of the health and human

          6  service delivery system of the Bronx.  We reach 500

          7  members and agencies that actively participate in an

          8  electronic mailing list and numerous workgroups and

          9  task forces. We also coordinate the Perinatal

         10  Information Network and work extensively with the

         11  community and health care providers to improve birth

         12  outcomes, prenatal care and the reproductive health

         13  of Bronx women.  We are currently updating our

         14  yearly needs assessment for maternal and infant

         15  health and we thank you for the opportunity to

         16  testify today.

         17                 The Bronx's rate of infant mortality,

         18  maternal mortality, and the percentages of

         19  prematurity, low- birth weight, teen pregnancy and

         20  late or no prenatal care exceed those of the City

         21  and the country, and, in some cases by substantial

         22  amount. Several of our poorest neighborhoods have

         23  been particularly hard hit.  In addition, a large

         24  racial disparity remains with African American and

         25  Latino mothers and babies at greatest risk.
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          2                 The rate of infants dying before the

          3  age of one year continues to be shockingly high.

          4  Within the Bronx, the highest infant mortality rates

          5  were in Morrisania, Williamsbridge and East Tremont.

          6    The City's infant mortality rate among African

          7  Americans continues to be double that of whites,

          8  with Puerto Ricans close behind.  The Department of

          9  Health has noted, "If the infant mortality rate

         10  among African Americans decreased to that of whites,

         11  nearly 200 fewer babies would die each year."

         12                 Meanwhile, more than ten percent of

         13  infants born in the Bronx, the highest percentage of

         14  any borough, have low- birth weight, which puts them

         15  at much higher risk of serious health problems and

         16  even of death.

         17                 In addition, the maternal mortality

         18  rate for the Bronx continues to exceed the City-

         19  wide rate.  Studies indicate that as many as half of

         20  all pregnancy- related deaths could have been

         21  prevented if women had better access to health care,

         22  received better quality care and made changes in

         23  their health and lifestyle habits.

         24                 Teenage mothers are much less likely

         25  to obtain prenatal care and are at especially high
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          2  risk for serious illnesses.  Their babies are at a

          3  higher risk of low- birth weight and pre- term

          4  delivery.  The percentage of teen births in the

          5  Bronx, 12 percent, remains twice the Manhattan

          6  figure of six percent. Within the Bronx, percentages

          7  are even higher in Mott Haven, Hunts Point, East

          8  Tremont, and Morrisania.

          9                 Two- thirds of Bronx birth are to

         10  women on Medicaid and districts with even higher

         11  proportions are Mott Haven, Hunts Point, Union

         12  Port/Soundview, Concourse/Highbridge, Fordham and

         13  Williamsbridge.  In addition, an estimated 20

         14  percent of childbearing age State- wide are

         15  uninsured.  Numerous studies have found that

         16  uninsured pregnant women are less likely to receive

         17  prenatal care than woman who have private insurance.

         18                 Meanwhile, another recent study found

         19  that hospitalized children who lack health insurance

         20  are twice as likely to die from their injuries as

         21  those with insurance.

         22                 I'll wrap up now.  So, therefore,

         23  it's vital to restore the funding for the Child

         24  Health Clinics, and also for the Outpatient

         25  Medication Waivers, and, most centrally, to deal
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          2  with all the issues I've been discussing, the

          3  question of Infant Mortality Reduction Initiative

          4  must be reinstated and as well as to accommodate the

          5  many Spanish speaking and other language speaking

          6  people, the translation services.  Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

          9  Gentlemen, thank you very much.  Joann, thank you.

         10  Next, we have Dwyana Quick- Ford from the Coalition

         11  of Concerned Medical Professionals, Samuel Bair from

         12  the Coalition of Concerned Medical Professionals as

         13  well, and Carol Shapiro from Family Justice.  Okay,

         14  and you may begin.

         15                 MR. BAIR: Thank you.  My name is

         16  Samuel Bair on behalf of the Coalition of Concerned

         17  Medical Professionals.  I'm speaking on Dwyana's

         18  behalf.  She can't make it.  Our office is located

         19  in Brooklyn and we fight for change in how health

         20  care is delivered throughout the metropolitan area.

         21  Our organization is entirely volunteer and we accept

         22  not a dime of government funding, and never have in

         23  our 34- year history.

         24                 We are here today to oppose any cuts

         25  or reductions in the City's budget for health care
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          2  for low- income and working people.  We urge you to

          3  restore any and all deletions put forth by Mayor

          4  Bloomberg, and to fight harder for health care as a

          5  right for all New Yorkers, regardless of ability to

          6  pay.

          7                 We need to put Bushwick and East New

          8  York in the same infant mortality bracket as Park

          9  Slope and the Upper West Side.  We need to bring the

         10  asthma rate in the South Bronx down to the same

         11  level as Todt Hill.  We need no more poor cardiac

         12  patients ever discharged from a New York Hospital

         13  without the medicine they need to survive.  We need

         14  to end the diseases of poverty and to practice the

         15  preventive care that can be achieved only with

         16  decent living wages for all working people.

         17                 Our City's now perennial $2 billion

         18  dollar budget surplus is a phenomena inexplicable to

         19  any thinking person who sees the epidemiology of our

         20  City plagued by the poverty of the majority of

         21  people who live here and work here.  How can this be

         22  that a City government that rules over the welfare

         23  of millions leaves so many of those millions with

         24  treatable, but untreated, illnesses on the one hand

         25  and holds up a budget surplus as if it were a prize
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          2  for having done so?  How can we not, in good

          3  conscience, spend the money that we do have on the

          4  things that our people do need?

          5                 New York stands as the extreme

          6  concentration of the U.S. economy, completely and

          7  totally dependent on the service sector.  The

          8  service sector workers, who cook and deliver New

          9  York's meals, clean New York and care for New

         10  Yorkers who are aged and disabled, who punch cash

         11  registers and sweep the streets, do so at wages that

         12  make them poor and without access to good health.

         13  However, without them, our City would not turn a

         14  wheel.  Why shouldn't they too have access to

         15  decent, quality health care.

         16                 Historically, this fight has been

         17  carried out by the labor movement, especially in

         18  regards to the fight for medical benefits for union

         19  workers, however, just nine percent of Americans are

         20  unionized in their work now.  The difficulty lays

         21  not in any subjective lack of motivation of the

         22  labor leaders, but in the objective legal conditions

         23  surrounding their labor organizing.  The federal

         24  government dictates who can be organized and under

         25  what terms.  A new approach is needed.
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          2                 To win this battle we must build

          3  organization that can bring together all people of

          4  like purpose to fight for truly comprehensive health

          5  care for poor and working people regardless of

          6  ability to pay.  Thank you.

          7                 MS. SHAPIRO: Good afternoon, and

          8  thank you for giving me the time today.  I'm Carol

          9  Shapiro.  I'm here representing New York City's

         10  Alternatives to Incarceration Coalition and I'm the

         11  Founder and President of Family Justice.  I really

         12  want to applaud the Committee and also the Health

         13  Department for recognizing that the impact of our

         14  criminal justice system is felt hugely in the areas

         15  of health for poor families in New York City.  I'm

         16  here also to ask for a new need.

         17                 About 11 years ago we opened a

         18  storefront called La Bodega de la Familia on the

         19  Lower East Side, and if I brought you into the life

         20  of Mrs. Rodriguez, you would know that she is

         21  dealing with HIV and AIDS.  It's not just her son

         22  who is coming home from prison who is struggling,

         23  but we're also dealing with a lot of chronic illness

         24  and mental illness, both diagnosed and undiagnosed.

         25                 We've been asked to create another
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          2  demonstration in the Brownsville, East New York area

          3  in partnership with the New York City Housing

          4  Authority.

          5                 What sets us apart in the work we do,

          6  which I think a lot of the Alternatives to

          7  Incarceration community does, is we see families in

          8  the context in which they live, and that obviously

          9  includes having to deal with not only high volumes

         10  of people coming home from jail and prison, but also

         11  dealing with serious issues of drug use, addiction,

         12  mental health, family violence.  So we're asking for

         13  your additional support this year for our work with

         14  the New York City Housing Authority where we're

         15  really trying to stabilize the health and well-

         16  being of families.

         17                 Again, what sets our work apart is we

         18  see the family as the unit of analysis, not just the

         19  person or persons involved in the justice system,

         20  which can be often generational, but how do you

         21  break those cycles.  And unless you're going to be

         22  thinking contextually and engaging the clinics, the

         23  other formal and informal systems in a neighborhood,

         24  you will not be doing that.

         25                 I also want to suggest that the
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          2  support you've given us in the last ten years has

          3  leveraged tremendous private support. The Robert

          4  Wood Johnson Foundation has recently given us money

          5  to develop a database where the family is the unit

          6  of analysis.  So not only are we looking at the

          7  impact of people coming home from jail and prison or

          8  on probation or in a pre- trial service, we're able

          9  to look at family well- being, areas that I know

         10  other people were talking about, low birth weight,

         11  truancy.  How do keep kids from going in and

         12  progressing in crisis in the criminal justice

         13  system.

         14                 So I want to, again, applaud you for

         15  trying something new.  We are a nationally

         16  recognized program with New York City in our wings

         17  to show that we have to think very differently about

         18  poor people particularly those who live in public

         19  housing and are at risk of future involvement in the

         20  criminal justice system.  So thank you very much for

         21  taking that leadership.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.  Thank

         23  you very much. Last, but not least, we have Judith

         24  Manelis from Share, Terri Smith- Caronia from

         25  Housing Works and Sydney Moshette Jr. From the
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          2  Federation of County Networks, and this will be our

          3  final panel. You may begin.

          4                 MS. MANELIS: Good afternoon and thank

          5  you for having us.  My name is Judith Manelis and I

          6  am the Program Director of SHARE, Self Help for

          7  Women with Breast or Ovarian Cancer.  Our

          8  organization is 30 years old and we have been

          9  providing support, information and empowerment to

         10  women affected by breast and ovarian cancer, their

         11  families and their friends.  We do this through

         12  multi- lingual hotlines, support groups, educational

         13  meetings, one on- one in person support and

         14  advocacy.  All of our services that we provide to

         15  these men and women and families are all free of

         16  charge.

         17                 I'm here to emphasize the need to

         18  identify ways to reduce the mortality rate from

         19  ovarian cancer to obtain greater access to quality

         20  health care for women diagnosed with breast and

         21  ovarian cancer.  Because non- profit organizations

         22  like SHARE that serve the cancer community that are

         23  vital to these initiatives, it's crucial that the

         24  New York City Council continue to advocate funding

         25  for the City Council's initiative on cancer
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          2  prevention, education and outreach.

          3                 In New York State, 1,700 women are

          4  diagnosed with ovarian cancer annually and more than

          5  60 percent of these women will die of the disease.

          6  Most are diagnosed in the late stages of the disease

          7  since there is no screening tool to detect this

          8  cancer and the symptoms, some of which are bloating,

          9  indigestion, abdominal pressure, urinary frequency,

         10  among others, and these symptoms could be

         11  indications of any number of other diseases.  For

         12  the most part, women are unaware that these symptoms

         13  could be symptoms of ovarian cancer and when they

         14  see doctors when these symptoms persist, even

         15  doctors sometimes do not recognize them and are

         16  dismissive of women who come to them with these

         17  symptoms. Women are often don't advocate

         18  sufficiently, strongly to go to another doctor, go

         19  to a specialist, have different tests to determine

         20  whether they have ovarian cancer.  Moreover, even

         21  when a women is diagnosed, she doesn't know about

         22  what available treatments there are and resources,

         23  what questions to ask, or how to make an informed

         24  decision.  The result of this lack of knowledge,

         25  awareness and empowerment is that mortality rate
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          2  from ovarian cancer is more than 60 percent and to

          3  make the figures more personal and alive for you in

          4  Kings County, 165.8 women will be diagnosed with

          5  ovarian cancer and 103.8 will die from this disease.

          6  That's 62 percent.  In New York County, 129.4 women

          7  will be diagnosed, 77.4 will die.  That's 60

          8  percent.  In the Bronx, 81.8 women  --  I'll finish

          9   --  will be diagnosed and 52 will die. That's

         10  slightly more than 63 percent.  In Queens, it's 54

         11  percent, and in Richmond, it's 68 percent.  These

         12  are not just numbers, but they represent lives lost.

         13    So we call on the City Council to support this

         14  cancer initiative so that these numbers no longer

         15  are as high as they are today.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.  Next.

         17                 MS. CARONIA: Good afternoon.  My name

         18  is Terri Smith- Caronia and I'm the Director of New

         19  York City Public Policy at Housing Works and I've

         20  already sent in a prepared statement, but I just

         21  kind of wanted to sit here today and respond to some

         22  of the things that I heard the Commissioner talk

         23  about in his testimony and the questions that the

         24  Council asked of him which were incredibly

         25  extensive.  I call on the City Council to start
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          2  thinking outside of the box, but first let me tell

          3  you what's in the box in terms of HIV/AIDS here in

          4  New York City.

          5                 The Commissioner already went through

          6  with the Council the devastation that New York City

          7  will feel behind the largest source of funding that

          8  we get for HIV and AIDS and that's the Ryan White

          9  Care Act.  As you know, we got it cut in our formula

         10  funding. We're probably going to get a cut in our

         11  supplemental funding.  We may get a cut in a

         12  minority initiative funding and the funding is

         13  staggered.  That means that the infrastructure for

         14  HIV/AIDS in the City is going to be teetering on the

         15  brink of having organizations close or fail to get

         16  people the services that they need.

         17                 He also mentioned other funding

         18  streams.  Let me tell you about those.  This is also

         19  in the box.  The CBC has recently released an

         20  announcement, 618, which reduced the funding for New

         21  York City for men who have sex with men of color,

         22  gave no funding to the City for the transgender

         23  community of which we have the largest population in

         24  the nation.

         25                 What's happening with our housing

                                                            176

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  opportunities for people with AIDS funding,

          3  Commissioner mentioned that.  Currently in the

          4  budget, there is still a large amount of that money

          5  that is sitting within HRA, that has been City

          6  workers rather than building the housing that people

          7  need built who are living here with AIDS and HIV.

          8                 So that's what is in the box.  What's

          9  outside of the box, and what I want people to think

         10  about, because Council Member Arroyo also brought

         11  up, the fact that there are people over 50 that are

         12  getting newly diagnosed with this disease, much to

         13  my surprise, and to the surprise of many in the

         14  community.  Gay City News recently put out a report

         15  where it was startling to me that you would think

         16  that the incidence of new HIV infection are among

         17  youth.  It is actually among people 35 and older

         18  with people over 50 comprising the largest number of

         19  people with the highest rates of incidence of HIV in

         20  this City.  So this is stuff that we're all

         21  grappling with.

         22                 I want to thank the Council for the

         23  Communities of Color money that you have

         24  institutionalized at this point, but I have to say

         25  this.  The money is not coordinated here in the
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          2  City. The dollars don't come out until January,

          3  February, March or April which leaves organizations

          4  two, three, four months to spend down funding to get

          5  people tested, to get them in care, to make this

          6  epidemic go away in this City.  Without a

          7  coordinated nation of funding, we're always going to

          8  see increases of HIV and AIDS and I don't want to be

          9  back here in ten years talking about the fact that

         10  we're still the epicenter of the epidemic here in

         11  this nation.

         12                 We can do a lot better.  We need the

         13  money baselined.  We need it turned it to programs

         14  that are serving people in all the communities, most

         15  especially the communities in the hardest hit areas

         16  of the South Bronx, North Central Brooklyn, East and

         17  West Harlem.  We need to do this and we need to do

         18  this year.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.  Sir.

         20                 MR. MOSHETTE: Good afternoon.  I'm

         21  Sydney Moshette Jr.  I'm Chair of the Federation of

         22  County Networks.  This is a coordinating and

         23  training body for perinatal networks in New York

         24  City.  I'm also Vice Chair of the Northern Manhattan

         25  Perinatal Partnership.  We are seeking you support
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          2  and commitment that public health funding in the

          3  City budget is restored and new programs needed in

          4  community will also be considered for funding.

          5                 It is generally recognized that our

          6  national, state and municipal programs for housing

          7  and homelessness fall far short of the great need by

          8  many, many families and individuals.  When stark

          9  tragedies grab the news broadcasts and headlines, we

         10  pause to comprehend what their daily living might

         11  involve.  Overcrowded housing places daily demands

         12  on families seeking to maintain physical, emotional

         13  and spiritual balance.

         14                 In the light of the many requests

         15  that will be made for your consideration, we feel

         16  that you will also see the importance of the

         17  following programs that need to be restored, Child

         18  Health Clinics, $6 million; Infant Mortality

         19  Preventive Programs, $5 million dollars; HHC

         20  Outpatient Medication Waivers, $2.4 million dollars;

         21  HHC Translation Services, $1 million dollars.

         22                 New programs  --  Community

         23  coalitions to eliminate asthma triggers in targeted

         24  neighborhoods  --  Asthma remains a serious health

         25  problem in many low- income communities of color, $3
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          2  million dollars for this initiative.

          3                 These are vital prevention programs

          4  that should not be cut or eliminated.  Thank you for

          5  your consideration and support.

          6

          7  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          8  CAROL PITTMAN

          9  NEW YORK STATE NURSES ASSOCIATION

         10

         11                 Good afternoon, Council Member Rivera

         12  and Members of the Council Committee on Health.

         13                 My name is Carol Pittman.  I am the

         14  Community Affairs Representative of the New York

         15  State Nurses Association.

         16                 Our Association represents over

         17  34,000 Registered Nurses state- wide, including

         18  26,000 who work in the five boroughs. Among them,

         19  the 7,000 RNs of HHC and the mayoral agencies care

         20  for the populations of our poorest, most underserved

         21  neighborhoods. Our nurses provide care in the HHC

         22  acute care, ambulatory and long term care

         23  facilities, the Diagnostic and Treatment Centers and

         24  in the NYPD, HRA, FDNY, the Department of Children's

         25  Service, Aging, Sanitation and the Correctional
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          2  Health Services.

          3                 First we would like to commend City

          4  Council Speak Chris Quinn and the Council on your

          5  plan to create 10 state- of- the art primary health

          6  care facilities in high- need communities over the

          7  next five years.  Our communities badly need

          8  facilities that will provide affordable, culturally

          9  accessible, community- based preventive care,

         10  particularly in light of the Berger Commission

         11  closings and consolidations.  This is a smart

         12  investment and an important step toward eliminating

         13  the existing health care disparities in our city.

         14                 The Mayor's budget however

         15  contradicts this step taken by the Speaker.  In NYC

         16  is serious about expanding and building community-

         17  based primary care, then full funding needs to be

         18  restored to the following programs, which should

         19  also be base lined for the future: Mental Health and

         20  Substance Abuse Programs; HIV/AIDS and TB reduction;

         21  Infant Mortality Prevention; Outpatient Medication

         22  Waivers; Child Health Clinics; HHC Translation

         23  Services.

         24                 Finally, we glad to note that HHC has

         25  begun the process of filling the RN vacancies in its

                                                            181

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  facilities.  There are many more slots to fill, and

          3  we hope that current efforts to hire RNs and thus,

          4  to increase the quality of patient care at HHC, will

          5  continue.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          8  much.  Seeing no other panelists, I will adjourn the

          9  Committee.  Thank you very much, and have a good

         10  day, ladies and gentlemen.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 2:40 p.m.)
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